

CT Department of Developmental Services

HCBS Waivers Operations Manual

Comprehensive Support Waiver
Individual and Family Support Waiver
Employment and Day Supports Waiver
Home and Community Supports Waiver for Persons with Autism and
Early Childhood Autism Waiver

Effective October 1, 2005 Issued October 11, 2005 Version 1

Edited May 22, 2007 Version 2

Edited November, 2008 Issued January 5, 2009 Version 3

Edited December 2014 Issued January Version 4

Edited December 2015 Version 5

Edited August 2016 Version 6 DRAFT to be Issued October 2016

Contact information:
DDS Waiver Division
460 Capitol Ave
Hartford Ct 06106
DDS.Waiver@ct.gov



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section	Subject	Page #	
1	Introduction and Overview of the DDS Waivers		
1.1	Waiver Administration and Operation	12	
1.2	DDS Operating Units for Waiver Administration		
1.2.1	Central Office Waiver Units		
1.2.2			
1.2.3			
1.2.4	Regional Planning and Resource Allocation Teams	13	
1.2.5	Regional Resource Administration	13	
1.2.6	Regional Administration/Case Management	13	
1.3	Waiver Eligibility	14	
1.4	Process Overview and General Principles	14	
1.4.1	Initial Resource Allocation and Individual Planning	14	
1.4.2	Service Arrangement and Provider Choice	14	
1.4.3	Consumer Direction	15	
2	Services	16	
2.1	Adult Companion aka (Companion Supports)	17	
2.2	Adult Day Health	19	
2.3	Assisted Living	21	
2.4	Assistive Technology	23	
2.5	Behavioral Support Services / Clinical Behavioral Supports Services	25	
2.6	Community Companion Homes (CCH) and Community Living	27	
	Arrangements (CLA)		
2.7	Community Day Support / Group Day Supports	29	
2.8	Community Mentor	31	
2.9	Continuous Residential Supports (CRS)	32	
2.10			
2.11	Health Care Coordination	36	
2.12	Independent Support Broker (formerly Family and Individual	38	
	Consultation and Support)		
2.13	Individual Goods and Services	40	
2.14	Individualized Day Supports / Supported employment	41	
2.15	Individualized Home Supports (formerly Supported Living and IS	43	
	Habilitation		
2.16	Interpreter	46	
2.17	Job Coaching	47	
2.18	Life Skills Coach	49	
2.19	Live in Companion/Caregiver	51 52	
2.20			
2.21	Parenting Support	53	
2.22	Peer Support	55	
2.23	Personal Emergency Response System (PERS)	56	
2.24	Personal Support	57	
2.25	Prevocational Services	60	
2.26	Respite	62	
2.27	Senior Supports	65	
2.28	Shared Living	67	
2.29	Social Skills Group	69	

0.00	Charielized Driving Assessment	74	
2.30	Specialized Driving Assessment	71	
2.31	Specialized Medical Equipment and Supplies / Assistive Technology	72 73	
	2.32 Supported Employment Training and Counseling for Uppeid Corogiver		
2.33	0 0 0		
2.34	Transportation / Non-Medical Transportation		
2.35	Vehicle Modifications		
3	Application and Enrollment	80	
3.1	Planning and Resource Allocation Team (PRAT)	80	
3.1.1	PRAT Data Maintenance	80	
3.1.2	Initial Referral for Services and Supports	80	
3.1.3	Request for Services	80	
3.1.4	Priority Assignment	81	
3.1.5	Review and Change in Priority Assignment	81	
3.1.7	Administrative Review Process and Fair Hearing Rights		
3.1.8	Assignment of Resources		
3.1.9	Waiver Slot Authorization		
3.2	Resource Allocation, the Level of Need and Service Limits		
3.2.1	Level of Need		
3.2.2	Service Limits		
3.3	Waiver Application		
3.3.1	ICF/IDD Level of Care Determination		
3.3.2	Waiver Application Packet		
3.3.3	Waiver Application Without Prior Award of Funding		
3.3.4	Waiver Enrollment Eligibility Decision		
3.3.5	Changes in Individual Plan		
3.3.6	Discharge from DDS Waiver Due to Entering a Long Term Care or		
	Rehabilitation/Mental Health Facility		
3.3.7	Refusal or Inability to Enroll in a DDS HCBS Waiver		
3.3.8	Annual Re-determinations		
3.4	Utilization Review		
3.4.1	IFS Waiver		
3.4.2	Comprehensive Supports Waiver		
3.4.3	Review Process and Timelines		
3.5	DSS Appeals		
3.6	Change in Eligibility and Subsequent Discharge from a HCBS Waiver		
3.6.1	Notification Process		
3.6.2	Removal from Waiver for Lack of Level of Care		
3.6.3	Removal from Waiver for Leaving Target Group		
3.6.4	Removal from the Waiver for Failure to Maintain Medicaid Eligibility		
3.6.5	Medicaid Operations Unit Removal Process		
3.7	Regional Audit		
4	Individual Planning		
4.1	Individual Planning Process		
4.1.1	Identify Participants in the Person-Centered Planning Process		
4.1.2			
	4.1.3 Support the Individual to Prepare for the Planning Meeting		
	4.1.4 Level of Need Assessment and Screening Tool		
	4.1.5 Gather a good understanding of the individual		
	4.1.6 Develop an action plan to achieve desired outcomes		
4.1.7			
4.1.8 Identify how progress on the individual's plan will be monitored			
4.1.9	Staff Qualifications		
4.1.10	Emergency Back-up		

4 4 4 4	HODO De Determination		
4.1.11	HCBS Re-Determination		
4.1.12	Aquatic Activity Screening		
4.1.13	Agreement with the Individual Plan		
4.1.14	Put the plan into action		
4.2	Monitor and revise the Individual Plan as needed		
4.2.1	Monitoring Plan Implementation		
4.2.2	Periodic Review of the Plan IP.12		
4.2.3	Changes to the Individual Plan		
4.2.4	Service and/or Provider Changes to the Plan		
4.3	Individual Plan 6 Database (IP.6 Database)		
4.4	Waiver Service Packages and Limits		
4.4.1	Funding Limits by Level of Need		
4.5	Plan and Individual Budget Approval		
4.6	Utilization Review		
4.7	IFS Waiver—Exceeding the IFS Waiver Limits		
4.8	Denial of Services and/or Enrollment and Notice of Appeal		
4.9	Service Authorization Procedure		
4.9.1	Provider Service Authorization FormInstructions		
4.10	Consumer Directed Options		
4.10.1	Agreement for Self Directed Supports		
4.10.2	Instructions IP.6 Database		
4.10.3	Individual Plan and Budget Approval Process		
4.10.4	Service Authorization		
4.10.5	Individual/Family Provider Agreement Form Instructions		
4.10.6	Individual/Family Employee Agreement Instructions		
5	Case Manager Responsibilities		
5.1	Choice of Service Options		
5.2	Arranging Services and Free Choice of Providers		
5.3	Coordination		
5.4	Monitoring		
5.5	Maintaining Medicaid Eligibility		
6	Provider Options		
6.1	Qualified Provider Requirements		
6.2	Self-Directed Options		
6.3			
	Agency with Choice		
7	Provider Qualifications and Training		
7.1	Provider Standard Qualifications and Training		
7.2	Documentation of Qualifications and Training		
8	Service Documentation and Records		
8.1	How Long Records Must Be Kept		
8.2	Availability of Records		
8.3	What the Qualified Provider or the Individual who self-directs		
	services keeps		
8.4	Service Documentation		
9	Invoices, Billing, Payments		
9.1	Instruction for completing Provider Billing Invoice Form		
9.2	Medicaid Billing		
9.3	Documentation for Medicaid Billing		
9.3.1	Performing Provider Agreement		
9.3.2	Qualified Provider Documentation		
9.3.3	Self-Directed Employee Documentation		
10	Appeals		
10.1			
10.2	10.2 Service Denial		

10.3	Request for Hearing			
11	Quality Management			
11.1	Quality Service Reviews			
11.2	Trending, prioritizing, and implementing system improvements			
11.3	Roles and responsibilities for monitoring and assessing system design changes			
11.4	Periodic evaluation of the quality improvement strategy			



1. Introduction and Overview of the DDS Waivers

waivers are granted by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) under
Section 1915 (c) of the Social Security Act. DDS operates five waivers:
Three waivers for Individuals with Intellectual disability
☐ Comprehensive Support Waiver, (COMP)
☐ Individual and Family Support Waiver (IFS),
☐ Employment and Supports Waiver (EDS)
Two waivers for individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder
☐ Home and Community Supports Waiver for Persons with Autism (ASD)
☐ Early Childhood Autism Waiver (ECW)

All DDS waivers further set specific dollar limits of services and supports that can be offered based on an individual's assessed level of support need. The requirements for the administration of the waivers are established in the approved HCBS Waiver applications. CMS negotiates the content of the application with the state. Once approved, the waiver specifies the following:

- The target population and related eligibility criteria;
- Lists the supports to be provided, including the service definition, Provider requirements, direct service employee competencies, and expected utilization of each service;
- Estimates the number of people to be supported each year with associated costs, and specifies maximum number of individuals who can be enrolled in each year.

All DDS Waiver services are designed to maximize each person potential, increase their independence and to partner with the individuals we support and their families, to support lifelong planning and to join with others to create and promote meaningful opportunities for individuals to fully participate as valued members of their communities. All citizens supported by the Department of Developmental Services are valued contributors to their communities as family members, friends, neighbors, students, employees, volunteers, members of civic and religious associations, voters and advocates. These individuals:

- Live, learn, work and enjoy community life in places where they can use their personal strengths, talents and passions.
- Have safe, meaningful and empowering relationships.
- Have families who feel supported from the earliest years and throughout their lifetimes.
- Have lifelong opportunities and the assistance to learn things that matter to them.
- Make informed choices and take responsibility for their lives and experience the dignity of risk.
- Earn money to facilitate personal choices.
- Know their rights and responsibilities and pursue opportunities to live the life they choose

The Comprehensive Supports Waiver (COMP)

The Comprehensive Supports waiver renewed was approved effective October 1, 2013 for a period of five years. It also permits self-direction for the majority of services and supports, but is not designated as an *Independence* Plus waiver. This waiver authorizes DDS to provide direct services and supports for people who live in licensed settings, who live in their own or their family home, volunteer and work in their local community that may require a level of support not available under the IFS waiver, usually due to significant behavioral, medical and/or physical support needs and/or the absence of available natural supports. Waiver resource cap is based on the ICF/IID rate.

Services and Supports are organized in three categories:

<u>Residential Supports</u> – Personal Support, Adult Companion, Individualized Home Supports, Residential Habilitation (CLA and CCH), Assisted Living, Healthcare Coordination, Live-In Caregiver, Continuous Residential Supports(CRS), Shared Living, Personal Emergency Response Systems and Respite

<u>Day/Vocational Supports</u> – Group Day, Supported Employment, Prevocational, Adult Day Health, and Individualized Day Supports

<u>Ancillary Supports</u> – Clinical Behavioral Supports, Nutrition, Interpreter, Parenting Supports, Specialized Medical Equipment and Supplies, and non-medical Transportation; Peer Support; Assistive Technology; Training and Counseling for unpaid caregiver and, <u>Additional support services</u> including Home and Vehicle Modifications, and Independent Support Broker.

The Individual and Family Support Waiver (IFS)

The IFS waiver is also designated as an *Independence Plus* Waiver by CMS because it provides the authority for individuals to self-direct a number of services and supports to the extent desired. This waiver was renewed effective February 1, 2013 for a period of five years. It is authorized to provide direct services and supports to people who live in their own or their family home, volunteer and work in their own community. Waiver resource cap is \$59,000.

Services and supports are organized in four categories:

<u>Home and Community Supports</u> – Personal Support, Adult Companion, Individualized Home Supports, Community Companion Home(CCH), Continuous Residential Supports(CRS), Shared Living Personal Emergency Response Systems, Healthcare Coordination, Live-In Caregiver and Respite;

<u>Day/Vocational Supports</u> – Group Day, Adult Day Health, Prevocational, Individualized Day Supports, and Supported Employment;

<u>Ancillary Supports</u>—Clinical Behavioral Supports, Nutrition, Specialized Medical Equipment and Supplies, Individual Goods and Services—only available to individuals/families who hire their staff directly Interpreter Services, Parenting Supports and non-medical Transportation; Peer Support; Assistive Technology; Training and Counseling for unpaid caregiver and,

<u>Additional support services</u>-including Home and Vehicle Modifications, and Independent Support Broker.

Employment and Day Supports Waiver (EDS)

The Employment and Day Supports waiver was approved by CMS to begin April 1, 2011 for a period of five years. This waiver is designed to support individuals who live with family or in their own homes, volunteer, work and have a strong natural support system. This includes children under the age of 21 with complex medical needs who would otherwise require institutional placement and individuals over the age of 18 who require career development, supported employment or community based day supports, respite, and/or behavioral supports to remain in their own or their family home. This waiver will serve 2150 people by the end of the five years (2021). The funding cap for this waiver is \$28,000 annually.

The following services are available in this waiver:

Home and Community Supports - Respite;

<u>Day/Vocational Supports</u> – Group Day, Adult Day Health, Individualized Day Supports, and Supported Employment;

<u>Ancillary Supports</u> –Clinical Behavioral Supports, Specialized Medical Equipment and Supplies, Interpreter Services and non-medical Transportation; Individual Goods and Services—only available to individuals/families who hire their staff directly,Peer Support; Assistive Technology;

Additional support services-including Independent Support Broker

Home and Community Supports Waiver for Persons with Autism

Target Population:

Adults who are currently receiving services through the DDS Autism Division (previously the Autism Pilot Program).

Children and young adults who received services previously through DCF's Behavorial Services Program (BSP) who meet DDS Autism Division eligibility criteria. (DCF BSP is for children with behavioral health needs).

As openings in the waiver become available, additional participants will be allocated funding within the limits of the waiver and available appropriations. Eligible participants must be at least three years of age with a diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder who live in a family or caregiver's home or one's own home. DDS's Level of Need (LON) Assessment tool will be used in combination with the SIB-R or other appropriate assessment tools to determine the assignment of resources as they become available.

Eligibility:

A primary diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) as determined by a diagnostic evaluation as described on the DDS Autism Division webpage

Substantial functional limitations in two or more of the following areas of major life activity: a) self-care, b) understanding and use of language, c) learning, d) mobility, e) self-direction, f) capacity for independent living and IQ= 70 or higher:

The Division of Autism Services provides services to individuals with ASD who do not have intellectual disability.

TT7 •	T 4 *1
Waiver	Details:

☐ Capped at \$60,000 annually per participant

Services and Supports:

Community Companion Homes (CCH); Live-in Companion; Respite; Assistive Technology; Clinical Behavioral Supports; Community Mentor; Individual Goods and Services; Interpreter; Job Coaching; Life Skills Coach; Non-Medical Transportation; Personal Emergency Response System; Social Skills Group; Specialized Driving Assessment.

Early Childhood Autism Waiver

Target Population:

This waiver is designed to serve young children aged three and four years-old who are diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder and who have significant deficits in adaptive behaviors as well as severe maladaptive behaviors. Supports are designed to improve skills in receptive and expressive communication, social interaction and activities of daily living, while reducing the inappropriate or problematic behaviors often associated with autism, using training techniques based on applied behavioral analysis.

Eligibility:

As part of the eligibility criteria for this waiver children must demonstrate a significant delay in adaptive skills as well as severe maladaptive behaviors. Because of this, all of the participants have extensive needs and would be determined to need the highest level of support in any level of need assessment. Therefore, funding levels will not be decided based on a certain level of need. All participants will be funded at the same level as they all meet the threshold for comprehensive needs.

Waiver Details:

Capped at \$30,000 annually per participant
Maximum total number of individuals to be enrolled in the waiver each year
Capped at 30 children

Services and Supports:

Clinical Behavioral Supports and Life Skills Coach;

Overview of DDS Waivers

Waiver	Age requirement	Population	Assessment Tool	Funding CAP
Comprehensive Waiver	3 years old with Intellectual Disability Diagnosis 18 years old for Developmental Disability	Developmental Disability and Intellectual Disability	LON	150% of ICF/IID rate
Individual and Family Support Waiver	3 years old if Intellectual Disability 18 years old for Developmental Disability	Developmental Disability and Intellectual Disability	LON	\$59,000
Employment and Day Supports Waiver	3 years old if Intellectual Disability 18 years old for Developmental Disability	Developmental Disability and Intellectual Disability	LON	\$28,000
Home and Community Supports Waiver for Persons with Autism	3 years old and above	Autism Spectrum Disorder	LON	\$60,000
Early Childhood Autism Waiver	3 and 4 year old	Autism Spectrum Disorder w/ significant deficits in adaptive behaviors and severe maladaptive behaviors	Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales and the Scales of Independent Behavior- Revised Maladaptive Behaviors Scale.	\$30,000

The requirements for the administration DDS waivers are established in the approved HCBS Waiver applications. CMS negotiates the content of the application with the state. Once approved, the waiver specifies the following:

- The target population and related eligibility criteria;
- Lists the services to be provided, including the service definition, Provider requirements, direct service employee competencies, and expected utilization of each service;
- Estimates the number of people to be served each year with associated costs, and specifies maximum number of individuals who can be enrolled in each year
- Describes the Plan of Care requirements [Individual Plan (IP)] and Individual Budgeting methodology;
- Describes and provides assurances for assuring the quality of services;
- Demonstrates cost neutrality; and,
- Describes the payment and audit mechanisms.

All waivers set specific dollar limits of services and supports that can be offered based on an individual's assessed level of support need. These elements can only be changed by CMS review and approval of amendments to the waiver.

1.1 Waiver Administration and Operation

The Department of Developmental Services (DDS) is considered the Operating Agency for day-to-day implementation of the DDS waivers. The Department of Social Services (DSS), as the Single State Medicaid Agency, oversees DDS's operation of the waivers. The departments cooperate in the operation of the waiver under a Memorandum of Understanding that delineates each department's responsibilities.

1.2 DDS Operating Units for Waiver Administration

1.2.1 Central Office Financial Division

1.2.1.1 Waiver Policy Unit and Audit, Billing and Rate Medicaid Operations

This unit is responsible for the development of policies and procedures, providing notification to participants of service reduction or denial decisions, and the provision of training and technical assistance. This unit participates with DSS in the submission of waiver applications and amendments to CMS, and in the development of required quality monitoring reports to CMS.

This unit is responsible for the processing of waiver applications,

providing notification to applicants and participants of eligibility decisions, maintaining current data on the number of waiver participants, attendance and billing reports for submission to the Department of Administrative Services (DAS) for Medicaid billing to CMS, collaborating with DSS to resolve Medicaid eligibility issues, participating in Medicaid Rate Setting decisions with DSS, maintaining records of federal financial reimbursement, resolving rejected Medicaid claims, and participating in audits of service utilization and billing.

1.2.2 Operations Center

This unit is responsible for the certification and enrollment of qualified providers, participation in the rate setting process, management of the Master Contract system of payment and cost reporting for private providers, management of the Fiscal Intermediary contracts, and management of the department's fiscal spend plan for private services.

1.2.3 Quality Management

This unit is responsible for the overall establishment and maintenance of a system that provides for continuous monitoring of the provision of waiver services to assure compliance with applicable health and welfare standards and evaluate individual outcomes and satisfaction.

1.2.4 Regional Planning and Resource Allocation Teams

This team is responsible for the prioritization of individuals who make application for enrollment in either Waiver, recommendations regarding waiver eligibility and enrollment, service authorization/utilization management functions, and regional management of the number of enrolled participants.

1.2.5 Regional Resource Administration

This unit in each region is responsible for providing oversight and technical assistance to private providers of services and supports, and coordinating payments for services to private providers through Master Contracts and Fiscal Intermediary services. The Resource Administration unit coordinates with the Regional PRAT on resource allocation management.

1.2.6 Regional Administration/Case Management

The DDS Regional Administration is responsible for the delivery of case management services for individuals enrolled in either waiver. Once an individual is enrolled, case management is responsible for the completion

of service needs assessments, the development and implementation of the Individual Plan, the effective use of waiver services as well as other available services and natural supports, the coordination and linkages of services, and the monitoring of the delivery of services and supports as described in the Individual Plan.

1.3 Waiver Eligibility

The following requirements determine if an individual is eligible to apply for enrollment in a DDS HCBS Waiver:

- Individual lives in his/her own (individual holds the lease, mortgage or owns outright) or family home (with parent(s) or other relatives) or, will reside in a licensed setting IFS and ASD Waiver, CCH only and Comprehensive Waiver CCH or CLA);
- Individual is eligible for Medicaid (Title 19) as a child or adult regardless of enrollment in the waiver; or
- Individual is eligible for Medicaid (Title 19) by virtue of enrollment in a DDS HCBS Waiver due to increased income limits or waiving spouse/parent income (deeming);
- The individual requires the level of care provided by an ICF/IID facility;
- The individual's health and safety can be reasonably assured through a combination of:; Medicaid State Plan services; community/generic services; and natural supports; DDS state-funded services and supports; and the appropriate type, duration and amount waiver services based on an individual's level of need
- There is an available opening under the approved cap on the number of individuals who may participate in the waiver at the time of application.

1.4 Process Overview and General Principles

How an individual and his/her family will experience participation in a waiver is broadly described in the following sections. Detailed instructions and guidance follows in each Section area of the Manual.

1.4.1 Initial Resource Allocation and Individual Planning

Through the Regional Planning and Resource Allocation Team process, individuals identified as having the most urgent need for supports through the prioritization process are provided a resource funding range or Individual Budget limit based on his/her assessed level of need. The individual, case manager, and other members of the planning and support team will initiate the person-centered planning process to identify needs, preferences and desired personal outcomes. An Individual Budget in an amount up to the allocated resource range or Individual Budget limit will be developed by choosing the type, amount and duration of services and supports from the list of waiver service and support options that meet the identified personal outcomes.

1.4.2 Service Arrangement and Provider Choice

Upon approval of the Individual Budget, which provides authorization to initiate and purchase approved services and supports, the individual may choose from any qualified provider to deliver the services and supports specified in the Individual Budget. Individuals and families are offered options on how much control and flexibility they choose to have over their supports. They may choose to hire their own staff to provide a number of services in this waiver, choose an agency to deliver the service, select an Agency with Choice option, or choose a combination of agency delivered and self-directed service options. The case manager will provide a list of qualified providers, and information or assistance as requested to ensure that the individual and other members of the planning and support team successfully arrange the initiation of approved services.

1.4.3 Consumer Direction

Individuals who self-direct their services and request enhanced assistance to manage the Individual Budget, hire and manage staff, support self-advocacy or provide enhanced service coordination may request that a DDS Broker provide case management and enhanced information and support services, or may choose to purchase Independent Support Broker services from a qualified provider or direct hire. When an individual uses an Independent Support Broker, a DDS case manager continues to deliver Targeted Case Management services to ensure the delivery of services and supports, overall implementation of the Individual Plan, and provide general information and referral services.

2. Services

This section describes the services that are covered under the Comprehensive(HCB), IFS, EDS, ASD and ECW waivers. When reviewing these services, the following apply:

- These services as defined in this manual are for Waiver recipients only;
- How much of each service a person will receive, how often it will be provided, and how long it will be provided must be specified in the person's Individual Plan and authorized by the region before services can be started and funded;
- Specialized Medical Equipment and Supplies that exceed cap outlined in cost standards require Prior Approval.
- Only one service that directly involves the person is provided at a time unless specifically permitted in the definition;
- Waiver funding may only be used to purchase or acquire service as defined in this section:
- The definitions of waiver services do not specify any named technique or therapy. These definitions have been written to meet general best practice habilitation principles and not to approve/deny any type of training. The decisions regarding techniques should be based on the needs/preferences of the person, the development of the Individual Plan, and Service Authorization and DDS Policies and Procedures;
- As a Medicaid recipient, the individual is also eligible to receive regular Medicaid services in addition to waiver services according to Medicaid policies and procedures;
- Payment will not be made for waiver services when a person is a patient (short-term or long-term) or resides in a hospital, nursing facility, or ICF-IID facility.

Individual/Group Services

- Services that have a group rate are Supported Employment Services, Group Day, Adult Day Health, Residential Habilitation and Respite. Group Services apply to situations involving the provision of services by one staff to two or more waiver recipients;
- All waiver services/supports are to be provided with a staffing ratio of one direct service
 employee to the person unless otherwise provided in the service definition or the service
 is provided in accordance with a group rate; (exceptions can be made if consumerdirected, such as if two individuals agree to share a support provider and the total rate
 paid for the service does not exceed the published provider rate)
- If a waiver recipient receives a service with a group rate in a setting where two or more individuals receive that service at the same time of day, then the presumption is that the person will receive the service at the group rate;
- If the person normally receives a group rate, then that rate must be billed regardless of the attendance of the other individuals in the group;
- When services are provided to a group of individuals, back-up staff must be available in the event of an emergency.

Adult Companion Services/ Companion Supports (Comp and IFS Waiver)

Definition

Non-medical care, supervision, and socialization provided to an adult. Service may include assistance with meals and basic activities of daily living and/or completion of light housekeeping tasks, which are incidental to the care and supervision of the individual. This service is provided to carry out personal outcomes identified in the Individual Plan. This service does not entail hands-on nursing care, except as permitted under the Nurse Practice Act (CGS 20-101). This service may be self-directed.

Examples

- Provide companionship and social interactions;
- Companions may assist or supervise the individual with such tasks as light housekeeping, meal preparation, laundry and shopping, but do not perform these activities as discrete services or more than 20% of time worked.

Service Settings

Provision of services is limited to the person's own or family home and/or in their community.

General Service Limitations

Adult Companion Services are not made for room and board, the cost of facility maintenance, upkeep and improvement. A qualified family member or relative, independent contractor or service agency may provide services. In the case of providers who are family members, federal financial participation is excluded when the provider is a parent providing services for a minor child under the age of 18, a participant's spouse, conservator, or a relative of a conservator. For other family members, payment is only made when: the service provided is not a function that a family member would normally provide for the individual without charge as a matter of course in the usual relationship among members of a nuclear family, and the service would otherwise need to be provided by a qualified provider. Prior approval from DDS is required for family members to qualify.

This service may not be used in combination with (as part of the same plan) Residential Habilitation (CLA).

This service may not be provided at the same time as Group Day, Individualized Day Supports, Supported Employment, Adult Day Health, Respite, Personal Support, Individualized Home Supports, Residential Habilitation (CTH) and/or Individualized Goods and Services.

Service Utilization

Two to 16 hours per day.

Qualified Provider or Self-directed Direct Service Staff Requirements

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- Criminal background check
- Abuse Registry check

- Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer. Prior to being alone with the Individual:
- Demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; human rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse; and knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques;
- Demonstrate competence in their role necessary to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan;
- Medication Administration if required by the Individual Plan.
 Unit of Service and Method of Payment
 The basis of payment for services is a quarter-hour unit of direct service time.
 Billing should be rounded to the nearest quarter hour.

Qualified Provider Rate for Services

See Rate Table

http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Self-directed: Negotiated Rate. Prior approval must be obtained from the DDS to exceed published waiver rate (Procedure: I.C.2.PR 009). Allowable costs are based on the Department of Developmental Services Individual Support Cost Standards revised November 2013.

Service Documentation

Maintain documentation by the individual providing the service that includes at a minimum: the date of the service; the start and end time of the service, and a description of the activities related to outcomes/goals/objectives, care or transportation provided to the person, and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own staff the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.

Adult Day Health Services (Comp, IFS and EDS Waiver)

Definition

Adult day health services are provided through a community-based program designed to meet the needs of cognitively and physically impaired adults through a structure, comprehensive program that provides a variety of health, social and related support services including, but not limited to, socialization, supervision and monitoring, personal care and nutrition in a protective setting during any part of a day. There are two different models of adult day health services: the social model and the medical model. Both models shall include the minimum requirements described in Section 17b-342-2(b)(2) of the DSS regulations. In order to qualify as a medical model, adult day health services shall also meet the requirements described in Section 17b-342-2(b)(3) of the DSS regulations.

Service Settings

Adult Day Health Service providers approved by the Department of Social Services.

General Service Limitations

Service only provided by an enrolled provider in a facility-based program. This service may not be self-directed. May not be provided at the same time as Group Day, Supported Employment, Respite, Personal Support, or Individualized Home Supports

Service Utilization

Generally six to eight hours per day.

Qualified Provider Requirements

Provider must meet the requirements of Section 17b-342-2(b)(2) of the DSS regulations. Providers of the medical model of Adult Day Health must also meet the requirements of Section 17b-342-2(b)(3) of the DSS regulations.

Direct Service Staff Requirements

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- criminal background check
- registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan
- demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan
- ability to participate as a member of the circle if requested by the individual
- demonstrate understanding of Person Centered Planning

• Medication Administration*

*if required by the individual supported

Unit of Service and Method of Payment

Per Diem rate based on actual attendance.

Qualified Provider Rate

Rates set by Department of Social Services. http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Service Documentation

As services are provided in group settings the provider documents the delivery of services for each date of service which includes: the date of service, the start time, the end time, and a note on the activity related to the outcomes/goals/ objectives, care or transportation of the person. The service delivery record can be bi-weekly or monthly and is signed by the provider representative.

Assisted Living--Comprehensive Support Waiver only

Definition

Personal care and services, homemaker, chore, attendant care, companion services, medication oversight (to the extent permitted under State law), therapeutic social and recreational programming, provided in a home-like environment in a licensed (where applicable) community care facility, in conjunction with residing in the facility. This service includes 24-hour on-site response staff to meet scheduled or unpredictable needs in a way that promotes maximum dignity and independence, and to provide supervision, safety and security. Other individuals or agencies may also furnish care directly, or under arrangement with the community care facility, but the care provided by these other entities supplements that provided by the community care facility and does not supplant it.

Personalized care is furnished to individuals who reside in their own living units (which may include dually occupied units when both occupants consent to the arrangement) which may or may not include kitchenette and/or living rooms and which contain bedrooms and toilet facilities. The consumer has a right to privacy. Living units may be locked at the discretion of the consumer, except when a physician or mental health professional has certified in writing that the consumer is sufficiently cognitively impaired as to be a danger

to self or others if given the opportunity to lock the door. (This requirement does not apply where it conflicts with fire code.) Each living unit is separate and distinct from each other. The facility must have a central dining room, living room or parlor, and common activity center(s) (which may also serve as living rooms or dining rooms). The consumer retains the right to assume risk, tempered only by the individual's ability to assume responsibility for that risk. Care must be furnished in a way that fosters the independence of each consumer to facilitate aging in place. Routines of care provision and service delivery must be consumer-driven to the maximum extent possible, and treat each person with dignity and respect.

Assisted living services may also include:
Home health care
Medication administration
Intermittent skilled nursing services
Transportation specified in the plan of care

Provider Qualifications

ALSA License from the Dept of Public Health Public Health Code 19-13-D105 and Enrolled as a Qualified Provider of Assisted Living with DDS.

A. Service Level Packages (Rates: see Rate Table)

SP-1 per Diem

Occasional Personal Service - 1 hour per week, up to 3.75 hours per week of personal services plus nursing visits as needed.

SP-2 per Diem

Limited Personal Service - 4 hours per week, up to 8.75 hours per week of personal services plus nursing visits as needed

SP-3 per Diem

Moderate Personal Service - 9 hours per week, up to 14.75 hours per week of personal services plus nursing visits as needed.

SP-4 per Diem

Extensive Personal Services - 15 hours per week, up to 25 hours per week of personal

services plus nursing visits as needed.

B. Core Assisted Living Services

Additional Core Services: per Diem

Additional Basic Core Services e.g. housekeeping, laundry and meal preparation, beyond the level provided by the MRC under its core services will also be allowed.

Service Documentation

Maintain attendance records and service documentation notes signed by the individual provider if applicable.



Assistive Technology- in all DDS Waivers

Services/items are not covered by the Medicare or Medicaid State Plan, and are necessary to improve the individual's independence and inclusion in his or her community.

Service Definition- Maximum \$5,000 over five year waiver period. This service purchased from a qualified provider/agency/vendor. (see section 6 Qualified Provider Requirements.)

An item, piece of equipment, or product system, whether acquired commercially, modified, or customized, that is used to increase, maintain, or improve functional capabilities of participants.

Assistive technology service means a service that directly assists a participant in the selection, acquisition, or use of an assistive technology device.

Assistive technology includes:

The evaluation of the assistive technology needs of a participant, including a functional evaluation of the impact of the provision of appropriate assistive technology and appropriate services to the participant in the customary environment of the participant;

Services consisting of purchasing, leasing, or otherwise providing for the acquisition of assistive technology devices for the participant;

services consisting of selecting, designing, fitting, customizing, adapting, applying, maintaining, repairing, or replacing assistive technology devices;

Training or technical assistance for the participant, or, where appropriate, the family members, or authorized representatives of the participant; and

Training or technical assistance for professionals or other individuals who provide services to, employ, or are otherwise substantially involved in the major life functions of the participant.

SERVICE SETTINGS

This service originates from the individual's home and is delivered in the community as described in the treatment/support plan in the person's Individual Plan.

GENERAL SERVICE LIMITATIONS

Specify applicable (if any) limits on the amount, frequency, or duration of this service: Items available under the individual's medical insurance are excluded.

Maximum up to \$5000 for a 5 year period (waiver period).

Billed through Provider Contract or Self Directed Budget (IP6)

SERVICE UTILIZATION AND AUTHORIZATION GUIDELINES

Request must be related to a need or goal identified in the approved Individual Plan (does not have to be all of these):

Assistive Technology for the purpose of increasing independence or substituting for human assistance to the extent the expenditures would otherwise be made for that human assistance (for example: purchase of a microwave oven that would allow a person to cook their own meal rather than having a paid staff to prepare a meal);

Promote opportunities for community living and inclusion;

Are able to be accommodated within the participant's budget without compromising the participant's health or safety;

Are provided to, or directed directly toward, the benefit of the participant; Are delivered in the individual's home, community, place of employment, or retirement location;

QUALIFIED PROVIDER REQUIREMENTS- can be any one of the entities listed below:

Pharmacies: CT Dept. of Consumer Protection Pharmacy Practice Act: Regulations Concerning Practice of Pharmacy Section 20-175-4-6-7.

Medicaid provider status for assistive technology and supplies or agency that obtains Medicaid performing provider status

Independent Contractors approved to provide services within CT must meet this criteria; Submit W-9

Provider Agreement

Certificate of Insurance

Proof of Licensure

Additional info maybe required such as a permit

Entity responsible for Verification of Provider Qualification:

The DDS or designee (such as provider or FI) will confirm qualification before payment.

UNIT OF SERVICE AND METHOD OF PAYMENT

The basis of payment for services is per item/service.

RATE FOR SERVICE FOR QUALIFIED PROVIDER

The rate for this service is up to \$5000 for a 5 year waiver period.

SERVICE DOCUMENTATION

Documentation requirement is set at the time of the service authorization.

Clinical Behavioral Support Services- Available in COMP, IFS, EDS and Autism Waivers

Service Definition

Clinical Behavioral Support Services are those therapeutic services which are not covered by the Medicare or Medicaid State Plan, and are necessary to improve the individual's independence and inclusion in his or her community. These services include:

- Assessment and evaluation of the person's behavioral need(s);
- Development of a behavioral support plan that includes intervention techniques for increasing adaptive positive behaviors, and decreasing maladaptive behaviors;
- Provision of training for the individual's family and other support providers to appropriately implement the behavioral support plan;
- Evaluation of the effectiveness of the behavioral support plan by monitoring the plan on at least a monthly basis or as noted in the individual plan. The service will also include needed modifications to the plan; and
- The provider shall be available and responsive to the team for questions and consultation.

This service may be purchased from a qualified individual practitioner or purchased from a qualified provider agency.

Service Settings

This service will be delivered in the individual's home or community as described in the treatment/support plan in the person's Individual Plan. This service is available only to people who live in their own or family homes and receive less than 24 hour supports from DDS. This service cannot be provided in a school or a facility.

General Service Limitations

This service may be delivered at the same time as Individualized Home Supports, Personal Support, Adult Companion and Individualized Day Supports, Life skills coach and community mentor.

General Service Exclusions

This service, the requirements and the rate do not apply to Residential Habilitation (CLA, and CTH) or Group Day Services or Supported Employment.

Service Utilization

The intensity of supports provided will vary depending on the complexity of the participants needs.

Unit Of Service And Method Of Payment For Qualified Provider

Quarter hour (15-minute) unit. The basis of payment for services is an hourly unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest 15-minute interval. Clinical Behavioral Support Services will be reimbursed for a Master's, Doctoral or BCBA Level provider who meets the described qualifications.

We are not accepting Bachelor Level providers at this time.

Service Documentation

The required services should be identified in the Individual's Plan. Time for reviewing records, preparing reports, and consultation over the phone is allowable. These activities must be clearly discussed and agreed upon with the team. Time spent with the person, consulting and training with Direct Support staff and family members should be the predominate billed time. Other activities cannot make up more than one third of the time in a month without written approval from the region. Time spent on activities related to billing, payment, scheduling of appointments, travel time and service documentation are not billable; they are built into the rate. As services are provided in the community, the person's own home, or a family home, the provider documents the delivery of services for each date of service. The documentation includes the date of service, the start time and end time of the service for each date, a signature of the person providing the service, and documentation including the reason for the service, the outcome, and follow up activities. Service documentation must clearly delineate whether the time was face to face with the service recipient.

Provider Requirements And Rates

http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/waiver/clinical_behavior_services_supports.pdf

http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Community Companion Homes and Community Living Arrangements (Residential Habilitation)
Comprehensive Waiver (CLA and CCH)
IFS Waiver and ASD Waiver(CCH only)

Definition

Assistance with acquisition, retention, or improvement in skills related to activities of daily living, such as personal grooming and cleanliness, bed making and household chores, eating and the preparation of food, and the social and adaptive skills necessary to enable the individual to reside in a non-institutional setting.

Examples

- •Provide instruction and training in one or more need areas to enhance the person's ability to live independently and enhance the individual's ability to access and use the community;
- •Implement strategies to address behavioral, medical or other needs identified in the Individual Plan;
- •Implement all therapeutic recommendations including speech, O.T., P.T., and assist in following special diets and other therapeutic routines;
- Mobility training;
- •Adaptive communication training;
- •Provide training or practice in basic consumer skills such as banking;
- •Assist the individual with all personal care activities.

Service Settings

Provision of services is limited to licensed CLA and CCH settings located in Connecticut.

General Service Limitations

Payments for residential habilitation are not made for room and board, the cost of facility maintenance, upkeep and improvement. This is an all inclusive support model and can be used in combination with Personal Support or Adult Companion services when based on individual need.

Service Utilization

24 Hour Services available.

Qualified Provider Requirements--CLA

Has an executed DDS standard contract or has been awarded a CLA through the RFP process.

C.G.S. 17a-227 State Administrative Code 17a-227-31 to 17a-227-37.

Public services must follow all DDS policies and procedures.

Direct Service Staff and CCH Provider Requirements

Standards as described in current contract, DDS Licensing regulations or DDS employee training requirements.

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- criminal background check
- registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan
- demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan
- ability to participate as a member of the circle if requested by the individual
- demonstrate understanding of Person Centered Planning
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in positive behavioral programming, working
 with individuals who experience moderate to severe psychological and psychiatric
 behavioral health needs and ability to properly implement behavioral support plans*
 *if required by the participant

Unit of Service and Method of Payment: Qualified Provider

Daily Per Diem (CLA) Monthly Stipend (CCH)

Qualified Provider Rate for Services

DDS Master Contract. (Private CLA)

Service Documentation

Documentation maintained as directed in CLA and CCH regulations.

Community Day Supports or Group Day Service (Comp, IFS and EDS Waiver)

Definition

Services and supports lead to the acquisition, improvement, and/or retention of skills and abilities to prepare an individual for work and/or community participation, or support meaningful socialization, leisure, and retirement activities.

Examples

- Develop and implement an individualized support plan;
- Develop, maintain or enhance independent functioning skills in the areas of sensorymotor, cognition, personal grooming, hygiene, toileting, etc.;
- Assist in developing and maintaining friendships of choice and skills to use in daily interactions;
- Develop work skills;
- Provide opportunities to earn money;
- Provide opportunities to participate in community activities.

Service Settings

These services are delivered in or from a facility-based program or appropriate community locations.

General Service Limitations

Service only provided by an enrolled provider in a facility-based program or appropriate community setting. This service may not be self-directed. This service may not be provided at the same time as Individualized Day Supports, Supported Employment, Adult Day Health, Respite, Personal Support, Adult Companion or Individualized Home Supports.

Service Utilization

Six to eight hours per day.

Qualified Provider Requirements and Individual Provider Qualifications

Prior to Employment:

- 18 yrs of age
- Criminal background check
- Abuse Registry check
- Ability to communicate effectively with individual/family
- Ability to complete necessary documentation.

Training w/in 60 days (cannot work alone until training completed)

- Medication Administration, if required in the Individual's Plan
- Communicable disease/OSHA
- First Aid and CPR
- Abuse and Neglect
- Sexual Abuse Prevention
- Confidentiality
- Human Rights
- Incident Reporting
- Planning and Provision of services
- Behavioral techniques based on the individual(s) supported and knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques.

• Additional training as required by the team/circle specific to support the individual's health, welfare and personal outcomes as described in the Individual Plan.

Unit of Service and Method of Payment: Qualified Provider

Hourly Fee

The basis of payment for services is a quarter-hour unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest quarter hour.

Qualified Provider Rate

http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/operations center/provider rates.pdf

Service Documentation

As services are provided in Group settings the provider documents the delivery of services for each date of service which includes: the date of service, the start time, the end time, and a note on the activity related to the outcomes/goals/ objectives, care or transportation of the person. The service delivery record can be bi-weekly or monthly and is signed by the provider representative. The Group Day provider will maintain service records related to the acquisition of outcomes/goals/objectives, provided to the person.

Community Mentor (ASD Waiver only)

Definition

Assistance necessary to meet the individual's day-to-day activity and daily living needs and to

reasonably assure adequate support at home and in the community to carry out personal outcomes. Cueing and supervision of activities is included.

Examples

Service Settings

Provision of services takes place in the participant's home and/or in their community. General Service Limitations

This service may not be used in place of Medicaid State Plan Home Health Aide services for which the participant is eligible.

Service Utilization

Participants who live in Community Companion Homes are limited to no more than 15 hours per week of Community Mentor service Utilization

Unit of Service and Method of Payment

Qualified Provider Requirements and Individual Provider Qualifications

Prior to Employment:

- 18 yrs of age
- Possess a valid Connecticut Driver's License
- Criminal background check
- (Abuse) Registry check
- Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- Demonstrate competence in knowledge of state policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; mandated child abuse reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of abuse/neglect, knowledge of policies prohibiting the use of physical management techniques;
- Demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education, and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific outcomes as described in the Individual Plan;
- Ability to participate as a member of the demonstrate knowledge of Person Centered Planning
- Must pass competency test for Autism Program Orientation Training Level I and II.

Oualified Provider Rate

http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=2730&q=521806

Service Documentation

Continuous Residential Supports- Comp and IFS Waiver

Definition

This service provides assistance with the acquisition, improvement and/or retention of skills and provides necessary support to achieve personal habilitation outcomes that enhance an individual's ability to live in their community as specified in the plan of care. This service includes a combination of habilitation and personal support activities as they would naturally occur during the course of a day.

Continuous residential supports must take place in a setting other than a family home and have the following:

Three or fewer participants living together in the same apartment, condominium or single family dwelling. Readily available third shift staff awake or asleep. Readily available means in the same setting or adjoining setting such as a two or three—family, duplex, side by side condos. Supports available throughout non-work hours though some time alone as approved by the team would be allowed. Some individuals could require intermittent staff support but live in the same apartment or single family dwelling where continuous supports are provided to other people living there.

This service is not available for use in licensed settings.

Individuals who wish to self-direct their services may do so by utilizing an Agency with Choice.

Service Settings

Provision of services is limited CRS settings located in Connecticut.

Lease required to be in the Waiver Participant name

General Service Limitations

Payments for Continuous Residential Support do not include room and board. May not be provided at the same time as Group Day, Individualized Day, Supported Employment, Respite, Personal Support, Adult Companion, Individualized Home Support and/or Individualized Goods and Services.

Service Utilization

24 Hour Services available.

Qualified Provider Requirements--CRS

Providers must follow all DDS policies and procedures.

The agency will ensure that employees meet the following qualifications:

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- criminal background check
- registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

• demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and

- other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan
- demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan
- ability to participate as a member of the team if requested by the individual
- demonstrate understanding of Person Centered Planning
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in positive behavioral programming, working
 with individuals who experience moderate to severe psychological and psychiatric
 behavioral health needs and ability to properly implement behavioral support plans*
- Medication Administration*

* if required by the individual supported

Unit of Service and Method of Payment: Qualified ProviderDaily Per Diem

Qualified Provider Rate for ServicesDDS Master Contract. (Private CRS)

Service Documentation

Documentation maintained as directed in CRS guidelines..

Environmental Modifications (Comp and IFS Waiver)

Definition

Those physical adaptations to the private residence of participant or the participant's family, required by the individual's plan of care, which are necessary to ensure the health, welfare and safety of the individual, or which enable the individual to function with greater independence in the home, and without which, the individual would require institutionalization. Such adaptations may include the installation of ramps and grab-bars, widening of doorways, modification of bathroom facilities, or installation of specialized electric and plumbing systems which are necessary to accommodate the medical equipment and supplies which are necessary for the welfare of the individual. Excluded are those adaptations or improvements to the home that are of general utility, and are not of direct medical or remedial benefit to the individual, such as carpeting, roof repair, central air conditioning, etc. Also excluded are those modifications which would normally be considered the responsibility of the landlord. Adaptations which add to the total square footage of the home are excluded from this benefit. All services shall be provided in accordance with applicable State or local building codes. Home accessibility modifications may not be furnished to adapt living arrangements that are owned or leased by providers of waiver services.

Examples

Such adaptations may include the installation of ramps and grab-bars, widening of doorways, modification of bathroom facilities, or installation of specialized electric and plumbing systems, needed to accommodate the medical equipment and supplies, which are necessary for the welfare of the individual.

Service Settings

The individual's or individual's family home.

General Provider/Service Limitations

Excluded are those adaptations or improvements to the home that are of general utility and are not of direct medical or remedial benefit to the individual, such as carpeting, roof repair, central air conditioning, etc. This service is not self-directed.

Service Utilization

Up to \$15,000 over the term of this waiver (five years).

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider

Provider paid through the Fiscal Intermediary upon receipt of invoice and signed Provider Agreement.

Qualified Provider Rate for Service

Lowest of three bids. Documentation of bids is required. Payment based on lowest bid.

Service Documentation

All home improvements and renovation projects must be documented through the submission of a proposal that includes, (1) the disclosure of the full scope of the project including a budget that identifies the cost for the entire project, (2) documentation that the project has the

approvals from local building inspectors and fire marshals, (3) the documentation that the project has been competitively bid with the documentation that the bids are from three qualified bidders, that each bidder is currently licensed with the State of Connecticut's Department of Consumer Protection to perform the work, craft, or skill for the portion of the project they are bidding, that the bidders are insured, that the bids are competitive and the bids are comparable. A signed Provider Agreement is required before payment is made.



Healthcare Coordination (Comp and IFS Waiver)

Definition

Assessment, education and assistance provided by a registered nurse to those waiver participants with identified health risks, who, as a result of their intellectual disability, have limited ability to identify changes in their health status or to manage their complex medical conditions. These participants have medical needs that require more healthcare coordination than is available through their primary healthcare providers to assure their health, safety and well-being. This service will ensure that there is communication between primary care physicians, medical specialists, and behavioral health practitioners, and will provide a resource person to communicate to direct support staff and consumers and train them to follow through on medical recommendations enabling the participants to live in the least restrictive setting possible with the greatest level of independence. The RN Healthcare Coordinator will complete a comprehensive nursing assessment on each participant and develop an integrated healthcare management plan for the participant and his/her support staff to implement. This service shall provide the clinical and technical guidance necessary to support the participant in managing complex health care services and supports to improve health outcomes and prevent admission to a licensed group home or nursing facility. The level of technical coordination related to interpretation and monitoring of health issues requires a clinical expertise that cannot be provided by the case manager. Support provided includes, but is not limited to, the following: train/retrain staff on interventions, monitor the effectiveness of interventions, coordinate specialists, evaluate treatment recommendations, review lab results, monitor, coordinate tests/results, and review diets.

Service Settings

This service originates from the home and is generally delivered in the community.

General Service Limitations

This service is available to participants who live in their own homes.

Service Utilization

The intensity of supports provided by the RN will vary depending on the complexity of the participant's needs. General usage is expected to be 1-5 hours per week.

Qualified Provider or Self-directed Direct Service Staff Requirements

Registered Nurse (RN) with two years of nursing experience and experience with DDS clients or individuals with Behavioral Health needs or specialized training by DDS.

Unit of Service and Method of Payment

Hourly Fee. The basis of payment for services is a quarter-hour unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest quarter hour.

Oualified Provider or Self-directed Rate for Service

See rate table. http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Service Documentation

As individual services are provided in the person's own home, or the community the provider documents the delivery of services for each date of service. The documentation includes the date of service, the start time and end time of the service for each date, a signature of the

person providing the service, and documentation on the reason for the service, the outcome, and follow up activities. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own provider

directly the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the provider worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.



Independent Support Broker (formerly FICS) (Comp, IFS and EDS Waiver)

Definition

Support and Consultation provided to individuals and/or their families to assist them in directing their own plans of individual support. This service may be self-directed.

Examples

- Assistance with managing the Individual Budget;
- Support with and training on how to hire, manage and train staff;
- Assistance with negotiating service rates with Provider agencies.
- Accessing community activities and services including helping the individual and family with day-to-day coordination of approved services;
- Developing an emergency back-up plan;
- Self-advocacy training;
- Assistance with developing a circle of support.

Service Settings

This service may only be delivered in the individual's home, meeting locations or in the community as described in the Individual Plan.

General Service Limitations

Qualified Provider cannot be a direct provider of services for the individual. This service is limited to those who direct their own supports. Individual support person may participate in emergency back up plan. Cannot be a guardian of the person or an immediate relative (mother, father, sibling).

Service Utilization

Utilization will vary in intensity depending upon the stage of the implementation of the Individual Plan.

Provider Requirements

Prior to Employment:

- 21 yrs of age
- Criminal background check
- Abuse Registry check
- Demonstrated ability, experience and/or education to assist the individual and/or family in the specific areas of support as described by the circle in the Individual Plan.
- Five years experience in working with people with Intellectual Disability involving participation in an interdisciplinary team process and the development, review and/or implementation of elements in an individual's plan of care.
- One year of the experience must have involved supervision of direct care staff in OR
 responsibility for developing, implementing and evaluating individualized supports for
 people with Intellectual Disability in the areas of behavior, education or rehabilitation.

Substitutions Allowed: College training in programs related to supporting people with disabilities (social service, education, psychology, rehabilitation, etc.) may be substituted for the experience on the basis of 15 semester hours equaling one-half year of experience to a maximum of four years.

- Demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; human rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse; knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques;
- Demonstrate understanding of the role of the service, of advocacy, person-centered planning, and community services;
- Demonstrate understanding of individual budgets and DDS fiscal management policies.

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider

Hourly Fee

The basis of payment for services is an hourly unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest hour.

Qualified Provider Rate for Services

See Rate Table http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Self-directed: Negotiated Rate. Prior approval must be obtained from the DDS to exceed published waiver rate (Procedure: I.C.2.PR 009). Allowable costs are based on the Department of Developmental Services Individual Support Cost Standards 7/1/2008

Service Documentation

As individual services are provided in the community, the person's own home, or a family home, the provider documents the delivery of services. The documentation includes the date of service, the start time and end time for each date of service, a signature of the person providing the service, and a description of the purpose of the service, the activities/tasks, outcomes and follow up tasks with responsible person. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own Independent Support Broker the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.

Individual Goods and Services (Comp. IFS, EDS and Autism Waiver)

Definition

Services, equipment or supplies that will provide direct benefit to the individual and support specific outcomes identified in the Individual Plan. The service, equipment or supply must either reduce the reliance of the individual on other paid supports, be directly related to the health and/or safety of the individual in his/her home, be habilitative in nature and contribute to a therapeutic goal, enhance the individual's ability to be integrated into the community, provide resources to expand self-advocacy skills and knowledge, and, the individual has no other funds to purchase the described goods or services.

Examples

Examples would include cleaning services, specialized clothing for work or safety for the individual, public speaking training, and specialized therapies.

Service Settings

May be delivered in the individual's home, at work, vocational or retirement location, or in the community.

Service Utilization

Must be pre-approved by DDS and follow DDS Cost Standards.

Service/Provider Limitations

Experimental and prohibited treatments are excluded. This service is only available for individuals who self-direct his/her own supports; DDS applies consistent guidelines in respect to the appropriateness of the services or items to be approved in this service definition. This service may not duplicate any Medicaid State Plan service.

Unit of Service and Method of Payment

All services or items are pre-approved by DDS and follow DDS Cost Standards. Unit may be an item, or hourly, ½ hour, or daily service unit. Costs and rates are negotiable.

Provider/Service Qualifications

Supplier or Individual selected by participant and approved by DDS including signed Medicaid Provider agreement. Meets any applicable state regulations for the type of supply or service as described in the Individual Plan approved by DDS.

Service Documentation

Documentation requirements are set at the time of the service authorization.

Individualized Day Support (Comp, IFS and EDS Waiver)

Definition

Services and supports provided to an individual tailored to his/her specific personal outcomes related to the acquisition, improvement, and/or retention of skills and abilities to prepare and support the individual for work and/or community participation and/or meaningful retirement activities, or for an individual who has their own business, and could not do so without this direct support. This service is provided by one support staff to one individual. Supports do not take place as part of a group of individuals with intellectual disabilities except for particular scheduled activities specified in the person's IP. For example, lunch at a restaurant with a friend once a month. This service may be self-directed.

Examples

- Develop and implement an individualized support plan;
- Develop, maintain or enhance independent functioning skills in the areas of sensorymotor, cognition, personal grooming, hygiene, toileting, etc.;
- Assist in developing and maintaining friendships of choice and skills to use in daily interactions:
- Provide support to explore job interests, retirement options;
- Provide opportunities to participate in community activities;
- Provide support to complete work or business activities;
- Training and supervision to increase or maintain self-help, socialization, and adaptive skills to participate in own community.

This service includes the transportation required by the individual to participate in these activities.

Service Settings

This service originates from the home and is generally delivered in the community.

General Service Limitations

This service is not provided in or from a facility-based day program. A qualified family member or relative, independent contractor or service agency may provide services. In the case of providers who are family members, federal financial participation is excluded when the provider is a participant's spouse, conservator, or a relative of a conservator. For other family members payment is only made when the service provided is not a function a family member would normally provide for the individual without charge as a matter of course in the usual relationship among members of a nuclear family; and the service would otherwise need to be provided by a qualified provider. DDS Prior Approval required for family members. This service may not be provided at the same time as Group Day, Adult Day Health, Supported Employment, Respite, Personal Support, Adult Companion, or Individualized Home Supports.

Service Utilization

One to eight hours per day.

Qualified Provider or Self-directed Direct Service Staff Requirements

- Prior to Employment:

 18 yrs of age
 - Criminal background check
 - Abuse Registry check

- Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- Demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; human rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse; knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques;
- Demonstrate competence in their role necessary to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan;
- Demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education, and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan;
- Demonstrate understanding of Person-Centered Planning.

Unit of Service and Method of Payment

Hourly Fee

The basis of payment for services is an hourly unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest hour.

Qualified Provider or Self-directed Rate for Service

http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Service Documentation

Maintain documentation by the individual providing the service that includes at a minimum: the date of the service; the start time and end time of the service, a description of the activities related to outcomes/goals/objectives provided to the person, and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own staff the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.

Individualized Home Supports (formerly Supported Living or Individual Support and Habilitation) (**Comp and IFS Waiver**)

Definition

This service provides assistance with the acquisition, improvement and/or retention of skills and provides necessary support to achieve personal habilitative outcomes that enhance an individual's ability to live in their community as specified in the Individual Plan of Care. This service includes a combination of habilitative and personal support activities as they would naturally occur during the course of a day. This service is not available for use in licensed settings. The service may be delivered in a personal home (one's own or family home) and in the community.

Habilitation

Assist with the acquisition, improvement and /or retention of skills and provide necessary support to achieve personal outcomes that enhance an individual's ability to live in their community as specified in their Individual Plan. This service is specifically designed to result in learned outcomes, but can also include elements of personal support that occur naturally during the course of the day. Examples of the type of support that may occur in these settings include:

- Provision of instruction and training in one or more need areas to enhance the individual's ability to
- access and use the community;
- Implement strategies to address behavioral, medical or other needs identified in the Individual Plan;
- Implement all therapeutic recommendations including Speech, O.T., P.T., and assist in following special
- diets and other therapeutic routines;
- Mobility training or Travel training;
- Adaptive communication training;
- Training or practice in basic consumer skills such as shopping or banking; and,
- Assisting the individual with all personal care activities.

Personal Support

Assistance necessary to meet the individual's day-to-day activity and daily living needs and to reasonably assure adequate support at home and in the community to carry out personal outcomes. Cueing and supervision of activities is included. This service may not be used in place of eligible Medicaid State Plan Home HealthCare services. Provision of services is limited to the person's own or family home and/or in their community

Service Settings

Provision of services is limited to the person's own home or family home and/or in their community.

General Service Limitations

Payments for Individualized Home Support are not made for room and board, the cost of facility maintenance, upkeep and improvement. This services cannot be used in combination

with Respite, Personal Support, Adult Companion Services, Group Day, Individualized Day, Supported Employment, and/or Individualized Goods and Services.

Service Utilization

Typical utilization is five to 20 hours per week.

Participant Directed Individual

Verified by the FI:

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- criminal background check
- registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan
- demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan
- ability to participate as a member of the team if requested by the individual
- demonstrate understanding of Person Centered Planning
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in positive behavioral programming, working with individuals who experience moderate to severe psychological and psychiatric behavioral health needs and ability to properly implement behavioral support plans*
- Medication Administration*

Qualified Provider Direct Service Staff Requirements

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- criminal background check
- registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan

^{*} if required by the individual supported

- demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan
- ability to participate as a member of the team if requested by the individual
- demonstrate understanding of Person Centered Planning
- Medication Administration*
- Additional training as required by the team/circle specific to support the individual's health, welfare, and personal outcomes as described in the IP.
- * if required by the individual supported

Unit of Service and Method of Payment

The basis of payment for services is a fifteen (15) minute unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest hour.

Rates: http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Service Documentation

Maintain documentation by the individual providing the service that includes at a minimum: the date of the service; the start time and end time of the service, a description of the activities related to outcomes/goals/objectives, care or transportation provided to the person, and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own staff the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.

Interpreter Services (Comp, IFS, EDS and Autism Waiver)

Definition

Service of an interpreter to provide accurate, effective, and impartial communication where the waiver recipient or representative is deaf or hard-of-hearing or where the individual does not understand spoken English. This service may be self-directed.

Examples

Interpretation at community activities to access generic services and supports, to receive training, etc.

Service Settings

This service may only be delivered in the individual's home, or in the community as described in the Individual Plan.

General Service Limitations

This service cannot be utilized as a substitute for staff who are able to communicate with the individual in his/her primary language in the provision of approved waiver services. Qualified Provider Direct Service Staff and Self-Directed Requirements

Prior to Employment:

- 18 yrs of age
- Criminal background if required by participant
- Abuse Registry check if required by participant
- Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- Be proficient in both languages
- Be committed to confidentiality
- Understand cultural nuances and emblems
- Understand the interpreter's role to provide accurate interpretation.

Sign language interpreter:

Certified by National Assn. Of the Deaf or National registry of Interpreters for the Deaf and must be registered with the Commission on the Deaf and Hearing Impaired.

Service Utilization

Typical utilization will be to attend meetings, provide orientation to employer responsibilities, etc.

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider

The basis of payment for services is an hourly unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest 15-minute interval. Provider Agreement required.

Qualified Provider Rate for Service

See Rate Table http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&O=505668

Service Documentation

Maintain service documentation signed and dated by the interpreter providing the service that documents the date of the service; the start time and the end time of the service for each date of service, the purpose of the service and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own interpreter the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.

Job Coaching (Autism Waiver Only)

Job Coaching includes activities needed to sustain paid work by participants, including supervision and training. When Job Coaching is provided at a work site where persons without disabilities are employed, payment is made only for adaptations; supervision and training required by participants receiving waiver services as a result of their disabilities but does not include payment for supervisory activities rendered as a normal part of the business setting. Job Coaching does not include sheltered work or similar types of vocational services furnished in specialized facilities. Job Coaching may be furnished to participants who are paid at a rate at or more than minimum wage, provided that the participant requires the supports in order to sustain employment. Job Coaching may include services and supports that assist the participant in developing, and achieving self-employment through the operation of a business and may be used to support a participant in a volunteer experience for the sole purpose of developing employment experiences and skills needed for employment in the general workforce.

FFP will not be claimed for incentive payments, subsidies, or unrelated vocational training expenses such as the following:

- 1. Incentive payments made to an employer to encourage or subsidize the employer's participation in a supported employment program;
- 2. Payments that are passed through to users of supported employment programs;
- 3. Payments for vocational training that is not directly related to a participant's supported employment.

Documentation that the service is not available under a program funded under section 110 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 or the IDEA (20 U.S.C. 1401 et seq.) is maintained in the file of each individual receiving this service. Prior approval is required for this service job Coaching

Qualified Provider Requirements and Individual Provider Qualifications

The FI will verify that employees meet the following qualifications:

Prior to employment

21 vrs of age

Bachelor's degree from an accredited institution of higher education

Possess a valid Connecticut Driver's License

Criminal background check

Registry check

Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family

Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- Demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; mandated child abuse reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge approved and prohibited physical management techniques;
 - Demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education, and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific outcomes as described in the Individual Plan;
 - Ability to participate as a member of the team
 - demonstrate knowledge/understanding of Person Centered Planning
 - Must pass competency test for Autism Program Orientation Training Level I and II within three months of working with an individual

Rates and additional Information:

http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/autism/dds autism rates and services.pdf

Service Documentation

Maintain service documentation signed and dated by the person providing the service that documents the date of the service; the start time and the end time of the service for each date of service, the purpose of the service and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own interpreter the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.



Life Skill Coach (Autism and Early Childhood Autism Waiver Only)

Definition

Life skills coaching assists individuals with the acquisition, improvement and/or retention of skills and provides necessary support to achieve personal outcomes that enhance an individual's ability to live and work in their community as specified in the individual plan of care. This service is intended for specific instruction and training in a personal outcome. Provision of the service is limited to the persons own, foster home or family home and/or in their community. This service may be self-directed or provided through a qualified agency. Life skills coaching may include any or all of the following activities:

Implementation of strategies to address behavioral, medical, medication management or other needs identified in the Individual Plan.

Implementation of therapeutic recommendations including speech, communication, social skills, leisure/recreation skills, O.T., P.T., and assistance in following special diets and other therapeutic routine

Provide training or practice in basic consumer skills such as banking, budgeting, and shopping. Provide instruction and training in one or more need areas to enhance the person's ability to live and work in the community

Assist the individual to complete daily living activities, including personal care and assistance to access other community resources.

May not be provided at the same time as Community Companion Home Supports.

Qualified Provider Requirements and Individual Provider Qualifications The agency will ensure that employees meet the following qualifications.

Prior to employment

21 yrs of age

Possess a valid Connecticut Driver's License

Bachelor's degree from an accredited institution of higher education

Criminal background check

Registry check

Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- •demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; mandated child abuse reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of abuse/neglect, knowledge of policies prohibiting the use of physical management techniques;
- •demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education, and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific outcomes as described in the Individual Plan;
- •ability to participate as a member of the team
- •demonstrate knowledge of Person Centered Planning
- •must pass competency test for Autism Program Orientation Training Level I and II within three months of working with an individual

Qualified Provider Rate

http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/autism/dds_autism_rates_and_services.pdf

Service Documentation

Maintain service documentation signed and dated by the person providing the service that documents the date of the service; the start time and the end time of the service for each date of service, the purpose of the service and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own interpreter the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.



Live In Caregiver/Companion (Comp, IFS and Autism Waiver)

Definition

When a waiver service such as Individualized Home Supports or Personal Support is provided by an unrelated, live-in caregiver, funding is available to cover the additional costs of rent and food that can be reasonably attributed to the unrelated live-in personal caregiver who resides in the waiver participant's home. The reimbursement for the increased rental costs will be based on the DDS Rent Subsidy Guidelines and will follow the limits established in those guidelines for rental costs. The reimbursement for food costs will be based on the USDA Moderate Food Plan Cost averages. Payment will not be made when the participant lives in the caregiver's home or in a residence that is owned or leased by the service provider.

Service Settings

The waiver participant's own home.

Qualified Provider Requirements

Prior to Employment

- 21 yrs of age
- criminal background check
- registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to Being Alone with the Individual

- demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan
- demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan
- ability to participate as a member of the team if requested by the individual
- demonstrate understanding of Person Centered Planning
- Medication Administration*

Interim Rate Guidelines (may be adjusted when sufficient data is collected on use of the service)

The waiver participant is reimbursed for the increased rent and utility costs based on the DDS Rent Subsidy Guidelines and the limits established those guidelines for rental costs. The reimbursement for food costs will be based on the USDA Moderate Food Plan Cost averages.

Interim Service Documentation (may be adjusted when sufficient data is collected on use of the service)

Rent, utility and food receipts.

^{*}if required by the individual supported

Nutrition (formerly Consultative Services) (Comp and IFS Waiver)

Definition

Clinical assessment and development of special diets, positioning techniques for eating; recommendations for adaptive equipment for eating and counseling for dietary needs related to medical diagnosis for participants and paid support staff.

Service Settings

This service may only be delivered in the individual's home, or in the community as described in the Individual Plan. This service is limited to 25 hours of service per year.

Qualified Provider Direct Service Staff and Self-Directed Requirements

Dietitian/Nutrition Licensure per CGS Chapter 384b

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider

Quarter hour (15-minute) unit. The basis of payment for services is an hourly unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest 15-minute interval.

Qualified Provider Rate for Service

See Rate Table http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Service Documentation

As individual services are provided in the community, the person's own home, or a family home, the provider documents the delivery of services for each date of service. The documentation includes the date of service, the start time and end time of the service for each date, a signature of the person providing the service, and documentation on the reason for the service, the outcome, and follow up activities. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own provider directly the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the provider worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation

Parenting Support Services- Comp and IFS Waivers

Parenting Support Services assists eligible consumers who are or will be parents in developing appropriate parenting skills. Individual training and support will be available. Parents will receive training that is individualized and focused on the health and welfare and developmental needs of their child. Close coordination will be maintained with informal supports and other formal supports. These services include:

- Parent Interview to establish rapport and explain parenting support services. Review of records, current services, informal and formal circles of supports. Community resources utilized. Discuss family's strengths and area of need(s).
- Conduct assessments specific to parents with intellectual disability and observations of
 individual's parenting skill strengths and areas of need(s); learning style; parent-child
 engagement, home-management, and safety checklists.
- Development of a family support plan incorporating teaching strategies and methods related to child development, child-care, discipline, home management, health, safety, nutrition, family dynamics and relationships.;
- Provision of individualized parenting education and life-skills training for the individual
 and their family utilizing evidenced-based curricula. Training will be adapted to the
 individual's learning style. Methods through direct instruction, task analysis, modelling,
 repetition and positive reinforcement. Materials include visual, verbal, video, and
 pictures.
- Evaluation of the effectiveness of the family support plan by monitoring the plan quarterly or as noted in the individual plan. The service will also include needed modifications to the plan; and
- The provider shall be available and responsive to the team for questions and consultation.

This service may be purchased from a qualified individual practitioner or purchased from a qualified provider agency.

SERVICE SETTINGS This service will be delivered in the individual's home or community as described in the Family Support Plan and the person's Individual Plan. This service is available only to people who live in their own or family homes. Not available to individuals living in CLA's, CRS or CCH.

GENERAL SERVICE LIMITATIONS

This service is limited to an average of four hours of individualized child-focused parent directed skill training per week (maximum 200 hours per year). Support is available from the first trimester until the eligible participant's child is 18 years of age. The Parenting Support provider and Case manager are responsible for monitoring the age of children. Services may be delivered at the same time as Individualized Home Supports, Personal Support, Adult Companion and Individualized Day Supports.

GENERAL SERVICE EXCLUSIONS

A parent that does not have physical custody or visitation rights is not eligible to receive parenting support services. If a parent loses physical custody or visitation rights DDS will work with DCF when these circumstances arise.

SERVICE UTILIZATION

The intensity of supports provided will vary depending upon assessment results and identified need(s) of the parent in accordance with the Family Support Plan and the Individual's Plan.

UNIT OF SERVICE AND METHOD OF PAYMENT FOR QUALIFIED PROVIDER

Quarter hour (15-minute) unit. The basis of payment for services is an hourly unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest 15-minute interval.

PROVIDER REQUIREMENTS AND RATES

http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/waiver/parenting support services service definition.pdf

SERVICE DOCUMENTATION The required services will be identified in the Individual's Plan. These activities must be clearly discussed and agreed upon with the team. Time spent assessing and assisting parents in developing competent parenting skills that are strength-based and skill focused should be the predominate billed time. Time spent on activities related to billing, payment, scheduling of appointments, travel time and service documentation are not billable; they are built into the rate. As services are provided in the community, the person's own home, or a family home, the provider documents the delivery of services for each date of service. The documentation includes the date of service, the start time and end time of the service for each date, a signature of the person providing the service, signature of the parent receiving the service and list of all individuals in attendance during the service. Documentation includes goals and objectives for the session, teaching strategies and methods utilized, outcomes or progress noted, and follow up activities. Service documentation must clearly delineate where service occurred. A copy of the session note will be provided to the parent after each session and sent to the case manager quarterly. Parenting Support Providers will review progress and submit a six month progress report to the parent and to the case manager to document progress in the person's Individual Plan.

Peer Support- Comp, IFS and EDS Waiver

Service Title

Peer Support - Individuals who receive supports through DDS or other waiver programs such as DMHAS, PCA or ABI waivers or other individuals who meet the qualifications listed in section 6 can be hired to provide peer support. Not exclusive to waiver participants.

Service Definition

This service may be self-directed (i.e., purchased from a qualified individual practitioner) or purchased from a qualified provider agency.

Peer support includes face-to-face interactions including Face Time or comparable technology (such as IPAD, IPHONE) that are designed to promote ongoing engagement of waiver participants towards the participant's personal goals. All peer support will promote the individuals strengths and abilities to continue improving socialization, self-advocacy, development of natural supports, and maintenance of community living skills. Peer support also includes communication and coordination with medical providers including behavioral health services providers and/or others in support of the participant.

Service can be provided in the participant's home, at their job or community.

Example of Activities: How to manage the participants home, manage self-direction of supports, How to find a job or maintain a job, How to advance in chosen career, how to access the community and build community supports.

The Peer Support uses his/her personal experience and how to engage the participant in order to continually reinforce and maintain skills. Individuals who receive supports through DDS or other waiver programs such as DMHAS, PCA or ABI waivers can be hired to provide peer support.

Service Settings

Service can be provided in the participant's home, at their job or community.

General Service Limitations Peer Support interventions will exclude activities that are duplicative of any other waiver service. Peer Support is limited to 2 hours per week and over a six month time period.

Rate For Service

Hourly Fee. The basis of payment for services is a quarter-hour unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest 15-minute interval.

See rate table: http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&q=505668

Service Documentation

Maintain documentation by the individual providing the service that includes at a minimum: the date of the service; the start and end time of the service, and a description of the activities related to outcomes/goals/objectives, care or transportation provided to the person, and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own staff the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.

More details: http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/waiver/service_definition_peer_support.pdf

Personal Emergency Response Systems (PERS) (Comp, IFS and Autism Waiver)

Definition

PERS is an electronic device which enables certain individuals at high risk of institutionalization to secure help in an emergency.

Examples

The individual wears a portable "help" button to allow for mobility.

Services Setting

The system is connected to the person's phone and programmed to signal a response center once a "help" button is activated.

General Service Limitations

Trained professionals staff the response center. PERS services are limited to those individuals who live alone, or who are alone for significant parts of the day and have no regular caregiver for extended periods of time, and who would otherwise require extensive routine supervision.

Service Utilization

Ongoing service billed on a monthly basis.

Qualified Provider Direct Service Staff Requirements

N/A

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider

Installation Monthly Fee

Qualified Provider Rate for Service

Installation See Rate Table
Two-way See Rate Table
http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Service Documentation

Maintain a record that documents the date service is started, the dates that it is provided, and the date it is terminated.

Personal Support (Comp and IFS Waiver)

Definition

Assistance necessary to meet the individual's day-to-day activity and daily living needs and to reasonably assure adequate support at home and in the community to carry out personal outcomes. Cueing and supervision of activities is included. This service may be self-directed.

Examples

- Provide assistance to maintain activities of daily living that may include:
 - Personal hygiene
 - Dressing
 - Eating and meal prep
- Provide assistance to attain and maintain safe and sanitary living conditions and manage a household that may include:
 - General housekeeping
 - Washing and drying laundry
 - Shopping
- Provide assistance to access and attend community activities that may include:
 - Accompanying the individual while traveling to community activities
 - Accessing leisure activities such as the library, fitness center, self-advocacy meeting, and community events.

Service Settings

Provision of services is limited to the person's own or family home and/or in their community. This service shall not be provided while the consumer is attending day program.

General Services Limitations

This service may not be used in place of eligible Medicaid State Plan Home Health Care services or be used in combination with residential habilitation. This service should not supplant the care provided by the consumer's natural supports. Personal care providers may be members of the individual's family with prior approval from DDS. Payment will not be made for services furnished to a minor by the child's parent (or step-parent), or to an individual by that person's spouse. For other family members, payment is made only when the service is not a function that a family member normally provides for the individual without charge as a matter of course in the usual relationship among members of a nuclear family, and the service would otherwise need to be provided by a qualified provider. Family members who provide personal care services must meet the same standards as providers who are unrelated to the individual.

May not be provided at the same time as Individualized Day Supports, Group Day , Supported Employment, Adult Day Health, Respite, Individualized Home Support, Adult Companion, or Residential Habilitation (CCH or CLA)

This service may not be used in combination with (as part of the same plan) as residential habilitation.

Service Utilization

Determined in the Individual Plan

Direct Service Staff Requirements

Participant directed Individual

Verified by the FI:

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- criminal background check
- registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques
- demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan
- Medication Administration*
 - * if required by the individual supported

DDS Qualified Provider or DDS Staff

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- Criminal background check
- Abuse Registry check
- Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- Demonstrate competence and knowledge of DDS policies and procedures in: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; human rights; confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse; knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques;
- Demonstrate competence in their role necessary to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan;
- Medication Administration*
 - * if required by the individual supported

Unit of Service and Method of Payment

The basis of payment for services is a quarter-hour unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest quarter hour.

Qualified Provider Rate for Services

See Rate Table http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Service Documentation

Maintain documentation by the individual providing the service that includes at a minimum: the date of the service; the start and end time of the service, and a description of the activities related to outcomes/goals/objectives, care or transportation provided to the person, and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own staff the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.

Prevocational Services- COMP and IFS Waiver

Service Definition

Services that provide learning and work experiences, training to assist the individual prepare for employment. Services include teaching such concepts as compliance, attendance, task completion, problem solving and safety that contribute to the employability in paid and integrated employment. May includes teaching, training, supporting work activities, career assessment and career planning. Services are not job-task oriented, but instead, aimed at a generalized result. Services are reflected in the participants individual plan with outcomes and timelines towards integrated community employment. An annual community based assessment will be completed for each individual and reviewed by DDS Personnel. Meals provided as part of these services shall not constitute a "full nutritional regimen" (3 meals per day).

Documentation is maintained in the file of each individual receiving this service that the service is not available under a program funded under section 110 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 or the IDEA (20 U.S.C. 1401 et seq.). May not be provided at the same time as Adult Day Health, Community Companion Home, Group Day, Live-in Companion, Supported Employment, Respite, Companion Supports, Individualized Home Supports, Parenting Support, Senior Supports, Individualized Day Supports or Continuous Residential Support.

.

Service Settings

These services are delivered in or from a facility-based program or appropriate community locations.

General Service Limitations

Service only provided by an enrolled provider in a facility-based program or appropriate community setting. Outcomes and timelines for transition should be documented in the person's individual plan and reviewed at a minimum annually. Transition should not exceed three years and requires regional director review.

Service Utilization

Six to eight hours per day.

Qualified Provider Requirements and Individual Provider Qualifications

The agency will ensure that employees meet the following qualifications: Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- criminal background check
- registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer Prior to being alone with the Individual:
- demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques

- demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan
- demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan
- ability to participate as a member of the circle if requested by the individual
- demonstrate understanding of Person Centered Planning
- Medication Administration*
- * if required by the individual supported

Unit of Service and Method of Payment: Qualified Provider

Hourly Fee and Per diem available

The basis of payment for services is a quarter-hour unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest quarter hour.

Qualified Provider Rate

http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/operations_center/provider_rates.pdf

Service Documentation

As services are provided the provider documents the delivery of services for each date of service which includes: the date of service, the start time, the end time, and a note on the activity related to the outcomes/goals/ objectives care or transportation of the person. The service delivery record can be bi-weekly or monthly and is signed by the provider representative. The provider will maintain service records related to the acquisition of outcomes/goals/objectives, provided to the person.

Respite (Comp, IFS, EDS and Autism Waiver)

Definition

Services provided to individuals unable to care for themselves; furnished on a short-term basis because of the absence or need for relief of those persons normally providing the care. This service may be self-directed.

Examples

Weekend stay at certified respite provider's home, in-home respite relief for parents, Saturday group respite at a community center, and attendance at approved respite/camp facilities.

Service Settings

Consumer's home, home of Qualified Respite Provider, DDS operated Respite Centers, Private Certified Respite Homes, community locations, approved respite facilities.

General Service Limitations

Stay in respite home/center cannot exceed 30 consecutive days without prior approval from DDS. Family members who reside in the same household as the individual may not provide respite.

Service Utilization

More than 13 hours in a given day the basis of payment is a daily unit of direct service. Less than 13 hours per day the basis of payment for services is a quarter-hour unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest quarter hour.

Qualified Provider Requirements Out of Home Respite Home/Center/Facility

Meets all requirements under CT General Statute (CGS) CGS 17a-218 and State Administrative Code 17a-218-1 to 17a-218-17.

Approved facilities licensed by Department of Public Health, Department of Education or other state licensing entity.

Self –Directed Requirements Out of Home Respite

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- Criminal background
- Abuse Registry check
- Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer.

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- Demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; human rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse; knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques;
- Demonstrate competence in their

- role necessary to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan;
- Medication Administration, if required in the Individual's Plan.

Qualified Provider Requirements In Home/Community Respite

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- Criminal background check
- Abuse Registry check
- Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- Demonstrate competence and knowledge of DDS
 policies and procedures in: abuse/neglect; incident
 reporting; human rights; confidentiality; handling fire
 and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse;
 knowledge of approved and prohibited physical
 management techniques;
- Demonstrate competence in their role necessary to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan
- Medication Administration, if required in the Individual's Plan.

Self-Directed Requirements In Home/Community Respite

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- Abuse Registry check
- Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

<u>Prior to being alone with the Individual:</u>

- Demonstrate competence and knowledge of DDS policies and procedures in: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; human rights; confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse; knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques;
- Only those respite providers who are over 18 years old may transport participants in a vehicle
- Demonstrate competence in their role necessary to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan
- Medication
 Administration, if required in the Individual's Plan.

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider

Daily Fee

The basis of payment for services is a daily unit after 13 hours in one 24-hour period

Hourly Fee of direct service

The basis of payment for services is a quarter-hour

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Self-Directed

Daily Fee

The basis of payment for services is a daily unit after 13 hours in one 24- hour period

unit of direct service time. Billing should be rounded to the nearest hour.

Hourly Fee of direct service

The basis of payment for services is a quarter-hour unit of direct service time.

Billing should be rounded to the nearest hour.

All Respite Rates Out of Home Respite

Self-Directed Rates

Rate Table

http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Home/Center/Facility, In-home Respite

Rate Table

http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Prior approval must be obtained

DDS to exceed published

waiver rate.

(Procedure: I.C.2.PR 009).

Allowable costs

are based on the Department of

Developmental Services Individual Support Cost

Standards

Service Documentation

As respite services are provided in the community, the person's own home, or a family home, or a provider residence, the provider documents the delivery of services for each date of service which includes the date of service, the start time and end time of service, and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own staff the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support

Senior Supports- Comp and IFS Waiver

Service Definition

Senior Supports are provided for older individuals, or individuals who have needs that closely resemble those of an older person, who desire a lifestyle consistent with that of the community's population of similar age or circumstances. This support is intended to facilitate independence and promote community inclusion as well as prevent isolation. Senior Supports consist of a variety of activities that are designed to assist the individual in maintaining skills and stimulating social interactions with others. The activities are based on needs identified in the IP and **may occur in any community setting, including the individuals place of residence.** Home based, Leisure, Maintenance of skills and Retirement activities.

Service Settings

This service originates from the individual's home and is delivered in the community as described in the treatment/support plan in the person's Individual Plan. **May occur in any community setting, including the individuals place of residence.**

General Service Limitations

Specify applicable (if any) limits on the amount, frequency, or duration of this service:

May not be provided at the same time as Individualized Day Supports, Group Day, Supported Employment, Adult Day Health, Respite, Individualized Home Support, Adult Companion, or Continuous Residential Supports

Prior approval for anyone under 60 years of age

Service Utilization And Authorization Guidelines —up to seven hours per day Qualified Provider Or Self-Directed Staff Requirements

Agency Provider

The agency will ensure that employees meet the following qualifications:

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- criminal background check
 CT sexual offender registry
- DDS abuse and neglect registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures, including, but not limited to abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques

demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan

Medication Administration*

Provide training on supporting seniors and issues related to ageing.

* if required by the individual supported

Individuals hired -

The FI will verify that employees meet the following qualifications:

Prior to Employment

- 18 yrs of age
- criminal background check
 CT sexual offender registry
- DDS abuse and neglect registry check
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures, including, but not limited to abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques

demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan

Medication Administration*

Provide training on supporting seniors and issues related to ageing.

* if required by the individual supported

Rate For Service For Qualified Provider

http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/operations_center/provider_rates.pdf

Mileage included

Service Documentation

When services are delivered the provider documents the delivery of services for each date of service which includes: the date of service, the start time, the end time, and a note on the activity related to the outcomes/goals/ objectives, care or transportation of the person. The service delivery record can be bi-weekly or monthly and is signed by the provider representative. The provider will maintain service records related to the acquisition of outcomes/goals/objectives, provided to the person.

Shared Living- Comp and IFS Waiver

Service Definition

This service may be self-directed or purchased from a qualified provider agency.

Shared Living offers waiver participants the opportunity to invite a family or an individual (who they have an existing relationship or have developed a relationship) to share their lives. It is a residential option that facilitates the relationship between the participant with a Shared Living life sharer Shared living is about the relationship. Shared Living is an individually tailored supportive service developed based on the individual support needs can be less than 24 hour support. Ideally no more than two DDS participants with a shared living provider. (Prior approval will be required for more than two participants) DDS participants must have their own bedroom. Shared Living requires the life sharer to live in the home and is not a rotating shift schedule.

Shared Living is available to participants who need daily structure and supervision. Shared Living includes supportive services that assist with the acquisition, retention, or improvement of skills related to living in the community. This includes such supports as: adaptive skill development, assistance with activities of daily living (ADLs) and instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs), connect to local resources such as adult educational opportunities, social and leisure skill development, protective oversight and supervision.

Shared Living integrates the participant into the usual activities of family and community life. In addition, there will be opportunities for learning, developing and maintaining skills including in such areas as ADL's, IADL's, social and recreational activities, and personal enrichment. The Qualified Provider provides regular and ongoing oversight and supervision to the life sharer.

The life sharer /provider lives with the participant at the residence of the participant's choice. Participant should have the opportunity to hold the lease and the same protection rights as all renters in CT. Shared Living qualified provider/supervisor of family recruit life sharers, assess their abilities, coordinate placement of participant or life sharer, train and provide guidance, supervision and oversight for life sharer s and provider oversight of participants' living situations, coordinate respite and additional support as needed. The life sharer may not be a legally responsible family member.

The Life Sharer must be free to either leave or stay at the home for purely personal pursuits as long as such a personal break is long enough for the worker to make effective use of this time.

Service Settings

The service should be provided in the Participants own home or the life sharer residence. Any participant who chooses to reside in the life sharer/provider residence must receive prior approval from a centralized committee, based upon review of the lease to ensure adequate protections for the participant. Participants or legal decision maker need to have to hold the lease and the same protection rights as all renters in CT.

General Service Limitations

Shared Living residential support model and cannot be used in combination with CLA, CRS, LIFE SHARER

Payment is not made for the cost of room and board, including the cost of building maintenance, upkeep and improvement. The life sharer may not be a <u>legally responsible</u> family member or legal guardian.

May be a relative such as a sibling.

Maybe used in combination with in kind supports(natural), State Plan Medicaid Services, IHS Personal Support, Companion Support and Respite.

Subject to DOL requirements. Such as Agency Provider Overtime

Individual and Family Live in domestic exemption (Agency cannot claim live-in exemption) Workers Comp guidelines apply

Life sharer cannot have sole control of the Share Living participants finances Not a rotating shift option

Service Utilization And Authorization Guidelines

Every planning and support team needs to ensure the attached checklist is completed prior to moving as part of the Transition Plan.

For each participant choosing not to live in their own home the Centralized Committee would review Lease, choice, adequate protections, emergency back up plan and the attached checklist...

Qualified Provider Or Self-Directed Staff Requirements

Prior to Employment- •

Minimum 18 yrs of age

- Criminal background check
- DDS abuse and neglect registry check Sexual Offender Registry
- have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- · have ability to complete record keeping as required

CDS required

Medication training maybe required

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse, knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques

demonstrate competence/knowledge in topics required to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan

demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan, such as medication or behavioral training

ability to participate as a member of the circle if requested by the individual demonstrate understanding of Person Centered Planning

Prior to being alone with the Individual cont'd:

demonstrate competence/knowledge in positive behavioral programming, working with individuals who experience moderate to severe psychological and psychiatric behavioral health needs and ability to properly implement behavioral support plans*

*if required by the participant

Unit Of Service And Method Of Payment

Per diem rate negotiated

Rate For Service For Qualified Provider Or Self-Directed

See rate table:

http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&q=505668

Service Documentation

Shared Living Provider Agency or Individual- As individual services are provided in the person's own home. Documentation of supports services will be outlined in the Individual Plan. Community integration Plan directed by participant. Follow DDS Policies and Procedures.

Link to more details:		

Social Skill Group (Autism waiver only)

Services assist individuals with the acquisition, improvement and /or retention of social skills necessary to achieve personal outcomes that increase an individual's independence, enhance an individual's ability to live and work in their community, and assist individuals in becoming responsible for their own actions as specified in the individual plan of care. The service is intended for specific instruction and training in social skills.

This service may be used in combination with life skills coach, community mentoring or clinical behavioral supports services. This should be documented in the Individual plan.

Qualified Provider Requirements and Individual Provider Qualifications

Prior to employment
21 yrs of age
Criminal background check
Registry check
Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- Demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of abuse/neglect, knowledge of policies prohibiting the use of physical management techniques;
- Demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education, and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific training outcomes as described in the Individual Plan;
- demonstrate knowledge/understanding of Person Centered Planning

Qualified Provider Rate

http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=2730&q=521806

Service Documentation

Maintain documentation by the individual providing the service that includes at a minimum: the date of the service; the start and end time of the service, and a description of the activities related to outcomes/goals/objectives, care or transportation provided to the person, and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own staff the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.

Specialized Driving Assessment (Autism Waiver Only)

Definition

Services provide a pre-driving evaluation to determine if an individual can safely operate a motor vehicle. The evaluation will include a medical review, which includes verification of potential contraindications for driving, an in-house clinical evaluation which includes comprehensive visual, cognitive and physical screenings, simulation and on-the-road testing using a dual equipped vehicle. This service does not include drivers education. This service is limited to individuals 18 years of age or older. Services will be provided by a team including a licensed Occupational Therapist and a Certified Driver Rehabilitation Specialist.

Qualified Provider Requirements and Individual Provider Qualifications

The agency ensures that employees meet the following qualifications.

21 yrs of age

Possess a valid CT Driver's license

Criminal background check

Registry check

Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family

Have ability to complete record keeping as required.

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

Demonstrate competence and knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; client rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of abuse/neglect.

Oualified Provider Rate

http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=2730&q=521806

Service Documentation

Provider needs to produce a report outlining the evaluation and recommendations.

See Service expectation:

http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/autism/dds_autism_rates_and_services.pdf

Specialized Medical Equipment and Supplies(Comp, IFS and EDS Waiver)

Definition

Devices, controls or appliances specified in the Individual Plan, which enable individuals to increase their abilities to perform activities of daily living or to perceive, control, or communicate with the environment in which they live.

This service also includes items necessary for life support, ancillary supplies, and equipment necessary to the proper functioning of such items, and durable and non-durable medical equipment not available under the Medicaid State Plan.

Examples

Generators, adaptive switches or controls, specialized communication devices

Service Settings

N/A

General Service Limitations

Items reimbursed with waiver funds shall be in addition to any medical equipment and supplies furnished under the State Plan and shall exclude those items that are not of direct medical or remedial benefit to the individual. Prior approval required for single items that cost more than \$750. This service is not self-directed.

All items shall meet applicable standards of manufacture, design, and installation.

Service Utilization

\$750/yr., with prior approval \$5,000/five yrs. http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/operations_center/self_hire_other_rates.pdf

Qualified Provider Direct Service Staff Requirements

N/A

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider

Item or supply upon receipt of invoice and signed Provider Agreement. Must follow DDS Cost Standards and provide notice of denial from DSS.

Service Documentation

The Qualified Provider provides an invoice that documents the date the item was provided to the person, a description of the item, and the cost of the item, including charges for delivery, supplies, or medical equipment. A signed Provider Agreement is required before payment is made.

Supported Employment Services (Comp, IFS and EDS Waiver)

Definition

Supported Employment consists of intensive, ongoing supports that enable participants, for whom competitive employment at or above the minimum wage is unlikely absent the provision of supports, and who because of their disabilities, need supports to perform in a regular work setting. Supported employment may include assisting the participant to locate a job or develop a job on behalf of the participant. Supported employment is conducted in a variety of settings, particularly work sites where persons without disabilities are employed. Supported Employment includes activities needed to sustain paid work by participants. including supervision and training. When supported employment services are provided at a work site where persons without disabilities are employed, payment is made only for adaptations, supervision and training required by participants receiving waiver services as a result of their disabilities but does not include payment for supervisory activities rendered as a normal part of the business setting. Supported employment does not include sheltered work or similar types of vocational services furnished in specialized facilities. Supported employment services may be furnished to participants who are paid at a rate more than minimum wage, provided that the participant requires supported employment services in order to sustain employment. Supported employment services may be furnished by a coworker or other job-site personnel provided that the services which are furnished are not part of the normal duties of the co-worker or other personnel and those individuals meet the pertinent qualifications for providers of the service. Supported employment may include services and supports that assist the participant in achieving self-employment through the operation of a business. However, Medicaid funds may not be used to defray the expenses associated with starting up or operating a business. This service may be self-directed.

1. Individual placement: A supported employment placement strategy in which an employment specialist (job coach) places a participant into competitive employment through a job discover process, provides training and support, and then gradually reduces time and assistance at the worksite. This service option may also include development and on-going support for self employment by the participant. This assistance consists of: (a) assisting the participant to identify potential business opportunities; (b) assisting the participant in the

development of a business plan, including potential sources of business

financing

and other assistance in developing and launching a business; (c) identification

of

the supports that are necessary in order for the participant to operate the business; and, (d) ongoing assistance, counseling and guidance once the business has been launched.

2. Group Supported Employment (GSE): a) A supported employment situation in a competitive employment environment in which a group of participants with disabilities are working at a particular work setting. The participants may be disbursed throughout the company and among workers without disabilities or congregated as a group in one part of the business; or b) Mobile Work Crew: A group of participants who perform work in a variety of locations under the supervision of a permanent employment specialist (job coach/supervisor).

Examples

- Supported employment includes activities needed to sustain paid work by individuals receiving waiver services, including supervision and training;
- Evaluate the Individual's appropriateness, desire, strengths, and abilities for supported employment;
- Job development;
- Assist in finding employment;
- Provide job coaching/teaching;
- Monitor job performance;
- Support work crews and teams;

Service Settings

Supported employment is conducted in a variety of integrated community settings.

General Service Limitations

This service may only be used when the individual is not eligible for state Vocational Rehabilitation services. A qualified family member or relative, independent contractor or service agency may provide services. In the case of providers who are family members, federal financial participation is excluded when the provider is a parent providing services for a minor child under the age of 18, a participant's spouse, conservator, or a relative of a conservator. For other family members, payment is only made when: the service provided is not a function that a family member would normally provide for the individual without charge as a matter of course in the usual relationship among members of a nuclear family, and the service would otherwise need to be provided by a qualified provider. Prior approval from DDS is required for family members to qualify. This service may not be provided at the same time as Group Day, Individualized Day Supports, Adult Day Health, Respite, Personal Support, Adult Companion, or Individualized Home Supports.

Service Utilization

Individual Supported Employment services will vary in the intensity of initial job development, intensive training, and decreasing periodic monitoring. This service is not for use to provide ongoing long-term 1:1 support to enable an individual to complete work activities. The individual, parent and/or guardian, and her/his team should discuss a support plan that addresses how and when the staff would begin to be fade direct supports. An individual who needs long-term 1:1 on the job supports to maintain their job would utilize the Individualized Day model with a negotiated rate. Although there is no set time limit, a reasonable time frame from when an individual begins a job with staff supports to independently working on their own is generally 3-6 months. A few hours of ongoing weekly and/or monthly support is part of the Individual Supported Employment model.

Typical Group Supported Employment ranges from six to eight hours per day for small groups of consumers.

Qualified Provider or Direct Hire Direct Service Staff Requirements Prior to Employment:

- 18 yrs of age
- Criminal background check
- Abuse Registry check
- Have ability to communicate effectively with the individual/family
- Have ability to complete record keeping as required by the employer.

Prior to being alone with the Individual:

- Demonstrate competence in knowledge of DDS policies and procedures: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; human rights and confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse; knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques;
- Demonstrate competence in their role necessary to safely support the individual as described in the Individual Plan;
- Demonstrate competence, skills, abilities, education, and/or experience necessary to achieve the specific outcomes as described in the Individual Plan;
- Ability to participate as a member of the circle if requested by the individual.

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/operations_center/provider_rates.pdf

Service Documentation

Maintain documentation by the individual providing the service that includes at a minimum: the date of the service; the start time and end time of the service, a description of the activities related to outcomes/goals/objectives provided to the person, and the signature of the person providing the service. The person receiving the service or their legal representative has the option of signing the provider documentation form. For individuals who hire their own staff the employer of record must sign the time sheet to verify the employee worked the hours reported on the time sheet and provided the support noted in the service documentation.

Training and Counseling Services for Unpaid Caregivers- Comp and IFS Waiver

Service Definition

This service is available for self-direction only (i.e., purchased from a qualified practitioner)

Training and counseling services for individuals (such as parents, siblings, extended family or circle of support.) who provide <u>unpaid</u> support, training, companionship or supervision to waiver participants.

Service can be provided in participants own home, family home, employment/jobsite or community.

For purposes of this service, individual is defined as any person, family member, neighbor, friend, companion, or co-worker who provides uncompensated care, guidance, companionship or support to a person served on the waiver.

This service may not be provided in order to train paid caregivers. Training includes instruction about treatment regimens and other services included in the service plan, use of equipment specified in the service plan, and includes updates as necessary to safely maintain the participant at home. Counseling must be aimed at assisting the unpaid caregiver in meeting the needs of the participant.

Waiver participant does not need to be present for caregiver to receive this service.

All training for the benefit of the care giver who provides unpaid support to the participant must be included in the participant's Individual Plan.

Follow family hiring guidelines that are currently in place.

Service Settings

This service originates from the individual's home and is delivered in the community as described in the treatment/support plan in the person's Individual Plan.

General Service Limitations- maximum \$1200 per year

This service is available to unpaid caregivers.

Self-Directed Service Requirements

Be at least 18 year old;

Other qualifications as determined by the participant with their Planning and Support Team.-Document in IP.

All training for care giver who provides unpaid support to the participant must be included in the participant's Individual Plan.

Qualifications comparable to service being provided- counseling- must be a qualified licensed counselor under DPH No CDS required

Unit Of Service

Is available for the costs of registration and training fees associated with formal instruction in areas relevant to participant needs identified in the Individual Plan and identify frequency such as monthly or bimonthly at max rate of \$100 per hour/\$1200 per year.

Rate For Service For Qualified Provider Or Self-Directed

See rate table: http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&q=505668

Service Documentation

During the 6 month review process the case manager will document the benefit of this service. Additional Information

http://www.ct.gov/dds/lib/dds/waiver/service_definition_training_and_counseling_for_unpaid_care_giver.pdf



Transportation (non-medical) (Comp, IFS, EDS and Autism Waiver)

Definition

Service offered in order to enable individuals served under the Waivers to gain access to waiver and other community services, activities and resources, specified by the plan of care. This service may be self-directed.

Transportation services under the waiver shall be offered in accordance with the individual's plan of care.

Examples

Travel to and from day program, travel for shopping or recreation. In group transportation models the rate includes the driver of the vehicle

Service Settings

N/A

General Service Limitations

This service is offered in addition to medical transportation required under 42 CFR 431.53 and transportation services under the State Plan, defined at 42 CFR 440.170(a) (if applicable), and shall not replace them. Whenever possible, family, neighbors, friends, or community agencies that can provide this service without charge will be utilized. Payment for service may not be made when provided by the parent of a minor child or the individual's spouse, or when delivered by other family members who would normally provide the service for the individual without charge as a matter of course in the usual relationship among members of a nuclear family.

Service Utilization

N/A

Oualified Provider or Self-directed Direct-Service Staff Requirements

Valid CT driver's license Criminal Background Check

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider

- Per Mile Fee/Per trip Fee upon receipt of invoice
- Signed Provider Agreement

Qualified Provider Rate for Service

See Rate Table http://www.ct.gov/dds/cwp/view.asp?a=3166&Q=505668

Self-directed: Negotiated Rate. Prior approval must be obtained from the DDS to exceed published waiver rate (Procedure: I.C.2.PR 009). Allowable costs are based on the Department of Developmental Services *Individual Support Cost Standards* 11/2013

Service Documentation

Maintain a record that documents the date that the service is provided, the specific activity that the person is being transported to/from, and the mileage or trips related to transporting the person. The signature of a representative from the Qualified Provider or the directly hired employee providing the transportation is required.

Vehicle Modification Services (Comp and IFS Waiver)

Definition

Alterations made to a vehicle that is the individual's primary means of transportation when such modifications are necessary to improve the individual's independence and inclusion in the community, and to avoid institutionalization. The vehicle may be owned by the individual, a family member with whom the individual lives or has consistent and ongoing contact, or a non-relative who provides primary long-term support to the individual and is not a paid provider of such services. This service explicitly excludes: 1) adaptations or improvements to the vehicle that are of general utility, and are not of direct medical or remedial benefit of the individual; 2) purchase or lease of a vehicle; 3) regular scheduled upkeep and maintenance of a vehicle except upkeep and maintenance of the modifications.

Examples

Wheelchair lift, wheelchair tie downs, grab bar.

Service Settings

The vehicle may be owned by the individual, a family member with whom the individual lives or has consistent and ongoing contact, or a non-relative who provides primary long-term support to the individual and is not a paid provider of such services.

General Provider Limitations

This service is not self-directed.

Service Utilization

Up to \$10,000 over the term of this waiver (five years). Once this cap is reached, \$750 per individual per year may be allowable for repair, replacement or additional modification with prior approval.

Qualified Provider Direct Service Staff Requirements

N/A

Unit of Service and Method of Payment Qualified Provider

Provider paid through the Fiscal Intermediary upon receipt of invoice and signed Provider Agreement.

Qualified Provider Rate for Service

Lowest of three bids. Documentation of bids is required. Payment based on lowest bid.

Service Documentation

All vehicle modifications must be documented through the submission of a proposal that includes, (1) the disclosure of the full scope of the project including a budget that identifies the cost for the entire project, (2) the documentation that the project has been competitively bid with the documentation that the bids are from three qualified bidders, that each bidder is currently licensed with the State of Connecticut's Department of Consumer Protection to perform the work, craft, or skill for the portion of the project they are bidding, that the bidders are insured, that the bids are competitive and the bids are comparable. A signed Provider Agreement is required before payment is made.

3. Application and Enrollment

Individuals who are receiving or are offered services and supports that are covered under a DDS HCBS waiver agree to participate in the waiver application and enrollment process at the time DDS determines it has the resources and waiver slots available. (see alsoCGS-17-218(g)). Waiver enrollment enables the State to bill Medicaid and receive federal assistance in funding waiver services, and thereby assists the State of Connecticut in its goal of supporting individuals who are served by the Department of Developmental Services to live safely and successfully in their communities.

Consumers/families/guardians/representatives will be provided with information about the DDS waivers that includes a summary of approved waiver services, the application and enrollment process, and hearing rights for decisions related to waiver(s) at the time of the Individual Planning meeting.

3.1 Planning and Resource Allocation Team (PRAT)

Each DDS region has a PRAT responsible for: the prioritization of individuals who seek to make an application to a DDS HCBS waiver; recommendations regarding waiver eligibility and enrollment; service authorization/utilization management functions; and regional management of the number of enrolled participants in each waiver.

3.1.1 PRAT Data Maintenance

Each region, using the department's statewide Planning and Resource Allocation Tracking database, shall maintain data about the individuals who request waiver enrollment or new service requests, their priority and level of need, the estimated cost of the service and the nature of the request (new service or enhancement).

3.1.2 Initial Referral for Services and Support

When the individual, his or her family or planning and support team identifies a need for service(s), the request is submitted to the region's PRAT following the process outlined below.

3.1.3 Request for Services

The individual's case manager submits a request for services consisting of:

- 1. Request for Services form,
- 2. Current Level of Need Assessment Summary Report
- 3. Current Priority checklist, if applicable
- 4. The person's current approved IP-6, if participant is already receiving services.

The Request for Service packet is reviewed for completeness by the case manager's supervisor, prior to submission to PRAT.

The chairperson or other team members may request additional information or the participation of other parties at the PRAT meeting to assist with decision making or to address areas of concern. PRAT reviews the Priority checklist and

Level of Need assessment (LON). The PRAT may question the referral source, typically the case manager, to confirm, clarify, or request additional, information before assigning a priority to the individual.

3.1.4 Priority Assignment

PRAT reviews the Priority Checklist in relation to any reports or assessments submitted with the request for services. The Team may question the referral source, typically the Case Manager, to confirm or clarify information before assigning a priority to the individual.

PRAT determines the person's Priority assignment; Emergency, Priority 1, Priority 2, or Priority 3, based on the score obtained on the Priority checklist. The Priority assignment determines whether the individual is assigned to the Waiting List (Emergency or Priority 1) or the Planning List (Priority 2 or 3).

PRAT notifies the Case Manager of the outcome of the Priority assignment within 14 days of receiving a complete Request for Services packet by returning the last page of the Request for Services, completed and signed by the PRAT Manager indicating the results of the determination. The PRAT also sends a letter to the individual and his/her personal representative notifying them of the Priority Assignment. Individuals who do not agree with their Priority Assignment have the right to a DDS Administrative Hearing under CGS Section 17a-210(e). Individuals also have the right to a Programmatic Administrative Review (PAR) on Priority Assignment if desired. If a PAR is requested it does not alter the individual's right to request an Administrative Hearing at any time.

3.1.5 Review and Change in Priority Assignment

While the individual is on the Waiting or Planning List, the Case Manager reviews and re-administers the priority checklist on an as needed basis. If there is a change in the individual's urgency for the need for services the Case Manager submits an updated Priority Checklist with supporting documentation to the PRAT for review. At the annual Individual Plan or the Individual Plan—Short Form meeting the case manager will review the Priority Checklist with the individual and family and confirm the person's Priority assignment. The individual and/or his or her representatives will be notified of their right to request an Administrative Hearing and/or a PAR if they do not agree with the Priority Assignment.

When a change in Priority assignment occurs, the PRAT will notify the individual/family in writing of the change and their right to request an Administrative Hearing and/or a PAR if they do not agree with the Priority Assignment. The individual/family's refusal to accept available resources may result in a review and reassessment of the individual's priority status

An individual's name may be removed from a specific list for the following reasons:

- 1. The individual is placed or receives individual support funding in the amount indicated by their Level of Need assessment;
- 2. The individual is denied the waiver service by the CO Waiver Policy and Planning Unit and does not request a DSS Hearing
- 3. The individual, after being denied a waiver service, exercises their rights to a DSS Fair Hearing and the DDS service denial is upheld through that process.
- 4. The individual/family refuses to apply for enrollment in an HCBS waiver if required to do so.
- 5. The individual is no longer eligible for services from the department based on CGS 1-1g and receives written notification from DDS.
- 6. The individual moves out of state and receives written notification of the discontinuation of services from the Case Manager;
- 7. The individual/family cannot be contacted after repeated attempts and, after the case manager sends a registered letter notifying the individual/family of the department's intent to remove their name from the list.

3.1.7 Administrative Review Process and Fair Hearing Rights

If an individual/family does not agree with the <u>priority assignment</u> they have the right to request an Administrative Hearing with DDS per CGS Section 17a-210(e) and/or a Programmatic Administrative Review. The case manager will assist in making this request as needed. A request for a PAR does not in any manner alter or preclude the person's right to request an Administrative Hearing related to a Priority assignment at any time.

3.1.8 Assignment of Resources

PRAT reviews the available resources and first considers people on the Emergency list for the assignment of resources taking into account any legislative or department mandates for how those resources are to be used including, but not limited to: Age-outs, OBRA, STS, people on the waiver with unmet health and safety needs.

Those people on the Priority 1 list are considered next taking into account the mandates listed above <u>and</u>:

- 1. The length of time on the DDS Waiting List, and
- 2. The age of the primary caregiver.

3.1.9 Waiver Slot Authorization

The PRAT maintains data on waiver service requests, manages available resources and awards funded waiver slots to individuals based on:

- a. Any legislatively mandated funding targets, e.g. DDS budget allocation specifies people living at home with elderly caregivers;
- b. The urgency of the individual's need for services as detailed in 3.1.4;
- c. The person's preferences.

If both DDS waivers have available slots at the time of the referral or resource allocation award, the application will be guided by the target criteria in the DDS waivers defined in Section 1 of this Manual. The PRAT notifies the individual/family and the case manager of the availability of a waiver opening and initial resource allocation or referral(s). The case manager notifies the individual/family of the HCBS Waiver enrollment requirements.

Emergency service authorization can occur outside of this process if time sensitive health and safety concerns exist, such as the department is directed to take custody of an individual by a court or the Office of Protection and Advocacy, or the individual has experienced a sudden loss of his/her home. These cases are reviewed at the first PRAT meeting following the authorization of services covered by a waiver.

3.2 Resource Allocation, the Level of Need and Service Limits

The DDS HCBS waivers cover a level of services for an individual as determined by an individual's assessed <u>Level of Need</u>. The level of services is governed by the dollar limits approved for the individual's <u>Level of Need</u>.

3.2.1 Level of Need

An individual's <u>Level of Need</u> is determined based on the results of a completed <u>Connecticut DDS Level of Need Assessment and Screening Tool</u> (LON) and any other information provided by the support team including the individual and his or her representatives. The <u>Level Of Need</u> assessment is then correlated to an amount of funding.

3.2.2 Service Limits

The DDS waivers further set upper limits for the level of services covered as expressed through a dollar limit.

The <u>IFS Waiver</u> prescribes three broad categories of support services: Home and Community Supports, Day and Vocational Supports, and Ancillary Supports. Each category separately specifies the total amount of available services within each package based first on the individual's assessed level of need and may not exceed those amounts unless the CT Department of Developmental Services approves an exception to the service limit. The specific dollar limits and services for each support category are found in Section 4 of the Manual. The IFS Waiver in total is approved to cover annualized service needs for each individual up to a maximum of \$58,000 per year, as determined by the assessed <u>Level of Need</u>, and adjusted thereafter for any additional legislatively approved increases/decreases. Service costs that may be incurred on a one time basis such as Home and Vehicle Modifications, may be approved in any plan year beyond the annualized service limit per the service definition limits as described in Section 2 of the Manual.

The <u>Comprehensive Supports Waiver</u> prescribes two broad categories of annualized support services: Residential/Home and Community Supports, and

Day and Vocational Supports. Home and Vehicle modifications are included as an Other category with distinct service limitations as described in the Service Definitions in Section 2 of this Manual. The Comprehensive Waiver also sets funding limits based on the results of an individual's <u>Level of Need</u> (underline added) Assessment, with specific upper limits set by <u>Level of Need</u> for **each category**. The specific dollar limits and services designated for **each support category by Level of Need are found in Section 4 of this Manual.** The funding range limits apply to each participant on an annualized basis, unless the CT DDS approves an exception to this limit through Utilization Review. Criteria for Utilization Review approval as prescribed in the waiver application are also found in Section 3.4 of this Manual.

3.3 Waiver Application

Following the award of funding for waiver enrollment by the PRAT, the DDS case manager coordinates the completion of the waiver Application with the individual/personal representative. See sub-section 3.3.3 for information regarding the submission of a waiver application if the individual has completed the initial Request for Services process described in sub-section 3.1.3, but has not been awarded a funded waiver opening by the PRAT.

3.3.1 ICF/IID Level of Care Determination

Individuals who seek to enroll in a DDS Waiver must meet the ICF/IID level of care determination. In Connecticut, that determination is based on the following:

- 1. The individual has Intellectual Disability or a related condition,
 - a. <u>Intellectual Disability</u> as defined in <u>Connecticut General Statute</u> 1-1g, or otherwise eligible for services from CT DDS under state law, <u>Con Gen Stat Sec</u> 17a-210. Also included are those determined eligible for DDS services as a result of a hearing conducted by DDS according to the Uniform Administrative Procedures Act or administrative determination of the Commissioner
 - b. Related condition limited to persons who currently reside in general nursing facilities, but who have been shown, as a result of the Pre-Admission Screening and Annual Resident Review process mandated by P.L. 100-203 to require active treatment at the level of care of an ICF/IDD. Also included are young children between age three and seven years of age; and
- 2. There is a reasonable indication that the person, but for the provision of waiver services coupled with other available supports, would need services in an ICF/IDD, as evidenced by one or more of the following:
 - a. The services/support provided and sought (including waiver, state-funded, generic/community, natural and family supports) is critical to maintaining the individual in his or her current living situation;
 - b. Without such services/support, the individual would require the level of care provided in an ICF/IDD institutional setting;

- c. In the absence of such services/support, the individual would present an immediate need for an ICF/IDD institutional placement; OR,
- d. There are other compelling indications of an immediate risk of institutional placement.

This determination is documented on **DDS Form # 219e**, <u>HCBS ICF/IDD Level</u> <u>of Care Form</u>, and submitted to the regional Planning and Resource Allocation Team (PRAT).

3.3.2 Waiver Application Packet

Since waiver services are provided under a Medicaid program, the individual must be a current Medicaid beneficiary (have Title 19) or be willing to apply for Medicaid and agree to continue to maintain eligibility. Under the DDS waivers, persons not otherwise eligible for Medicaid may qualify for Medicaid so long as their income is less than three times the monthly Federal Benefit Rate (SSI). In addition, family income is not taken into account when determining Medicaid eligibility under a DDS waiver. Individuals who are employed and eligible for Medicaid through the Medicaid for the Working Disabled, or SO5, program will also be eligible for enrollment in a DDS waiver.

The case manager coordinates the Individual Plan process and completes the waiver application and enrollment packet with the individual, family or personal representative.

The packet contains:

- a. DDS 219e, Level of Care Form, initially completed.
- **b.** Medicaid (Title 19) Application, if needed.
- **c. DDS 222**, Service Selection, which documents that the individual was informed of the feasible alternatives for available services and chose home and community-based services.
- **d. Automated IP 6** proposed Individual Budget or the IP.6, Summary of Supports and Services and DDS 223, Notification of Waiver Services, that lists the individual's waiver services at enrollment.
- **e. DSS W-1518 (Rev. 2/05)**, HCBS Referral to Regional DSS Office, which summarizes information required by the Department of Social Services in order to enroll the individual in the DDS IFS or Comprehensive Waiver.
- f. DDS 225, PRAT HCBS Waiver Recommendation

The Case Manager must submit this packet along with the completed Individual Plan to the case management supervisor for quality review. If the cost of the service plan is within the original resource allocation, the Individual Plan is approved, service authorizations are processed and the waiver application is forwarded to PRAT. The PRAT reviews the waiver packet and records the recommendation (approve or deny) for enrollment in either the IFS or Comprehensive waiver based on the outcome of the planning and budgeting process. This recommendation is recorded on the DDS 225, PRAT HCBS Waiver Recommendation and is sent to the DDS Central Office Medicaid Operations Unit with the entire waiver packet.

When the Individual Plan and budget exceed the allocated budget limit from PRAT or previously authorized Individual Budget, the Case Manger will submit a request for additional resources to PRAT.

3.3.3 Waiver Application Without Prior Award of Funding

Individuals who seek to apply to a DDS waiver without the advance award by the PRAT of a funded waiver opening, may do so by submitting through the case manager an ICF/IDD Level of Care Determination on DDS Form 219e and a DDS Form 222, Service Selection, which documents that the individual was informed of the feasible alternatives for available services and chose Home and Community-Based Services. Those forms are submitted to the PRAT. The PRAT reviews the waiver application and records the enrollment recommendation (approve or deny) for enrollment in either the IFS or Comprehensive waiver by following the Priority Assignment process. This recommendation is recorded on the DDS 225, PRAT HCBS Waiver Recommendation and is sent to the DDS Central Office Medicaid Operations Unit within 10 business days of receipt of the packet

3.3.4 Waiver Enrollment Eligibility Decision

The CO Medicaid Operations Unit records the receipt of the application, reviews the contents of the packet and issues the final decision on enrollment. The approval or denial and due process notice is then sent to the individual/legal representative by return receipt with a copy forwarded to the case manager within 10 business days of receipt of the application.

A person may be denied enrollment in a DDS waiver based on any one of the following circumstances:

- the individual is determined by DSS to be ineligible for Medicaid;
- the individual fails to complete the Medicaid application process for eligibility;
- the <u>proposed</u> initial Individual Plan and Budget exceeds the allowable service/dollar limits prescribed in the waiver and is subsequently not approved through the Utilization Review process;
- or, the individual is determined by the PRAT to not be eligible for a waiver slot based on the established priority of need system. (DDS Administrative Hearing and/or PAR rights apply)

If services have been denied in whole or part, the decision will include the DSS Fair Hearing Rights Request for an Appeal.

3.3.5 Changes in Individual Plan

Any changes in waiver services at the time of the annual review, or at any time during the year, will be reported to the Medicaid Operations Unit by the case manager and updated in CAMRIS by the end of the month in which the change occurs..

3.3.6 Discharge from DDS Waiver Due to Entering a Long Term Care Facility or Rehabilitation/Mental Health Facility

When entry into a Long Term Care(LTC), Rehabilitation or Mental Health facility is likely because the current provider is unable to continue services based on medical support needs of the individual, the individual and/or his or her representatives have the option of exercising portability of funds if they do not wish to lose home and community based waiver supports and services. This allows them to secure waiver services from another provider or to hire staff directly. Their case manager will provide them information regarding portability.

When the individual who is on a DDS home and community based waiver enters a LTC, Rehabilitation or mental health facility for a short period of time (usually for rehabilitation) and is expected to return to the community within <u>90</u> days the Case Manager notifies the DDS Medicaid Operations Unit. After <u>90</u> days the individual will be discharged from the waiver. In some cases it is medically necessary for the individual to stay in the facility for longer than 90 days for rehabilitation. In these cases an additional <u>30</u> days will be granted if a written statement from a physician reports that the person will be able to leave the facility within the <u>30</u> additional days. This letter must be received by the DDS Medicaid Operations Unit prior to the expiration of the initial 90 day period. When the need for a facility is projected to be short term, the person's residential and other services will be held for them until a decision is made by the support team that the need is permanent.

Admission to a LTC, Rehabilitation or mental health facility beyond short-term rehabilitation or stabilization will result in discharge from the DDS home and community based waiver.

Individuals discharged from the waiver may re-apply when the individual is ready to return to the community again and is eligible for the waiver. When the person has stayed in the facility for over 120 days and is ready to move out consideration will be given to prior waiver status and the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) requirement to move the person to an appropriate setting.

Note: For people with Intellectual Disability admitted on a permanent basis to a nursing facility, Federal Regulation (42CFR 483.116(b)(2)) requires that the State must provide or arrange for provision of the specialized services needed by the individual while he or she resides in the nursing facility. This usually takes the form of an appropriate day program.

3.3.7 Refusal or Inability to Enroll in a DDS HCBS Waiver

When individuals are seeking either new or additional supports but are not eligible for Medicaid due to excess income and/or assets, or the individual / legal representative declines to apply for Medicaid and/or complete the enrollment process for a DDS HCBS waiver, the DDS case manager must complete DDS Form 224, Reasons for Declining to Submit Medicaid and/or DDS HCBS Waiver

<u>Applications</u>, and return to the PRAT for submission to the CO Medicaid Operations Unit.

The PRAT will suspend consideration for services/supports for the individual until notified by the CO Waiver Operations Unit of a final determination of eligibility for DDS funded services/supports. The CO Medicaid Operations Unit will make a formal written request to the individual, guardian, and legal/personal representative to explain the basis for refusal and review documentation in support of the refusal.

After review the Medicaid Operations Unit will issue their findings and notify the individual, guardian, and legal/personal representative. Individuals and families who are seeking new supports will be advised of their right to a Programmatic Administrative Review at the Regional Level if they do not agree with the findings.

3.3.8 Annual Re-determinations

All individuals who are enrolled in a DDS waiver must be reviewed annually for re-determination of continued eligibility for waiver status at the time of their individual plan review by the case manager. Annual re-determination is recorded in the Individual Plan, IP.10 or Form 219e ICF/IDD Level of Care and kept in the individual's file.

3.4 Utilization Review

Individual Plans and budgets that exceed the resources allocated to the individual by PRAT or Individual Budget limits based on the Level of Need Assessment and additional information as presented by the support team proceed through utilization review (UR). Each waiver specifies circumstances where services can exceed established Level of Need limits.

3.4.1 IFS Waiver

PRAT Utilization Review may approve service packages up to \$30,000 in Day and Vocational Services. The Regional Director can approve Day and Vocational service packages in excess of \$30,000 and up to \$32,000 in Home and Community Services, when considered separately. Such approvals are made based on the existence of health and safety needs that could not be addressed within the original Level of Need allocation for that individual. The <u>total annualized</u> cost of the individual's services and supports may not exceed the current IFS Waiver covered services limit described in Section 4.9.1.

3.4.2 Comprehensive Supports Waiver

Utilization Review is required for any service package that exceeds the initial allocation range or Individual Budget limit as determined by the Level of Need assessment. PRAT Utilization Review may approve up to the established limits found in Section 4.9.1 for each Level of Need in total. Such approvals are made based on the existence of health and safety needs that could not be addressed within the original Level of Need allocation for that individual.

Regional Director review and approval is required for any service package that exceeds the identified total limits for each Level of Need range.

3.4.3 Review Process and Timelines

Individual Plans and budgets are reviewed to evaluate the amount, type, frequency, and intensity of services directly related to health and safety needs of the individual, and desired outcomes based on the individual's preferences and needs as described below:

- Requests for resource allocations exceeding original range or Individual Budget limit by the Regional PRAT are made to the PRAT. PRAT has up to 10 business days to issue a decision on the request.
- b) The Regional Director, or designee, is required to review and approve PRAT decisions that exceed PRAT approval limits and will do so within 5 business days.
- c) Regional Directors, or designee, may provide immediate temporary approval for requests to address immediate threats to the individual's health and/or safety.
- d) The PRAT notifies the case manager of the UR decision within 10-12 business days of the submission.
- e) The case manager will contact the individual or personal representative by phone to inform them of the decision within 2 business days. If the request has been denied by UR, the individual or personal representative will be offered the following options:
 - revise the service plan to fall within the original resource allocation:
 - request an informal negotiation with DDS to determine if a compromise can be reached; or,
 - o request that the decision be forwarded to the Central Office Waiver Policy Unit for formal action and Medicaid Fair Hearing rights if the UR denial is upheld.
- f) The telephone contact and outcome of the discussion will be documented in the case manager's running case notes in the individual's master record. If the individual requests an opportunity to further discuss and negotiate the region's decision, the case manager will notify his/her supervisor and the region will designate an administrator from a different regional Division to meet with the individual and family or other support persons within 10 working days. The outcome of this meeting will either be an agreement on a service package, or continued disagreement and submission of the proposed plan to the DDS CO Waiver Policy Unit for a final determination. The outcome of the meeting will be documented by the regional administrator in a letter to the individual and family immediately following the meeting, with a copy to the case manager and the PRAT.
- g) If the individual and personal representative request that the decision be reviewed by the Central Office Waiver Policy Unit, the complete packet will be forwarded to the Unit within 1 day of that decision by the PRAT.

Individuals who are seeking enrollment in a DDS HCBS waiver whose service package exceeds the prescribed allocation range or Individual Budget limits may not initiate services until the application has been accepted and approved through either Utilization Review, the negotiation process, or through the results of a DSS Fair Hearing Appeal Process.

Requests for additional services later in a plan year that exceed the previously approved Individual Plan and Budget are submitted to the Regional PRAT following a review of an individual's plan, and are subject to the same approval and/or Utilization Review process and criteria as described in this sub-section.

3.5 DSS Appeals

If an individual is denied access to a preferred waiver program (DDS's IFS or Comprehensive waiver), a notice of denial and fair hearing rights will be provided to the applicant by the CO Medicaid Operation Unit. If an individual is denied requested services as a result of a Level of Need Determination, a notice of denial and fair hearing rights will be provided to the applicant by the CO Waiver Policy Unit.

All determinations by the Medicaid Operations Unit to deny waiver eligibility or the Waiver Policy Unit to deny a request for new or additional waiver services are subject to a request for a hearing before the Department of Social Services in accordance with the Uniform Administrative Procedures Act. The DDS Division of Legal and Governmental Affairs will coordinate the hearing process and assist with the presentation of the department's position at such hearings. See Section 10 of this manual.

If an applicant/waiver participant prevails at the DSS hearing, the DDS regional office will be notified and DDS shall implement the hearing decision as soon as possible thereafter.

3.6 Change in Eligibility and Subsequent Discharge from a HCBS Waiver

3.6.1 Notification Process

DDS is notified of any change in the individual's status that may affect waiver eligibility through the following actions:

- Case Managers must notify the Central Office Medicaid Operations unit when an individual loses Medicaid eligibility, leaves DDS services, no longer meets the level of care requirements or chooses to be removed from the HCBS waiver.
- ☐ The Medicaid Operations unit may identify individuals who are no longer eligible for one of the HCBS Waivers through record reviews.
- DSS may notify the Medicaid Operations unit that a person is no longer eligible for Medicaid.
- Department of Administrative Services (DAS) may notify the Medicaid Operations unit that an individual has lost their Medicaid eligibility. This is usually detected through rejected Medicaid billing.

3.6.2 Removal from Waiver for Lack of Level of Care

If the DDS region determines that a person no longer meets the level of care requirements for an ICF/IDD the case manager notifies the Central Office Medicaid Operations unit that the person should be removed from the waiver. Individuals with a composite score of 0 on the DDS Level of Need Assessment and Screening Tool will not be enrolled in the DDS waivers. Notification is made on a DSS form W-1576 countersigned by the PRAT manager to indicate that PRAT has been notified of the issue.

If the Medicaid Operations unit discovers through a review of service utilization that no level of care determination for ICF/IDD , or IP.10 HCBS Redetermination form has been completed for on an individual they notify the Case Manager and the region's PRAT manager. The region is given 30 days to review the issue, correct the issue and notify the Medicaid Operations in writing. If it is determined that the individual does not meet the ICF/IDD Level of Care the Case Manager sends a DSS form W-1576 to the Medicaid Operations unit to remove the person from the waiver. The Medicaid Operations unit completes a DSS form W-1576 and processes it as specified below in section 3.6.5.

3.6.3 Removal from Waiver for Leaving Target Group

If the DDS Region determines that the person is no longer in the waiver target group, the case manager notifies the Central Office Medicaid Operations unit to remove the person from the waiver. Notification is made on a DSS form W-1576 and countersigned by the PRAT manger to indicate that PRAT has been notified of the information. This most often happens when a child is assessed and found not to have Intellectual Disability or when an individual leaves the state.

The Medicaid Operations unit may determine through a search of the DDS client database that a person is no longer an active DDS consumer. The Medicaid Operations unit completes a DSS form W-1576 and processes it as specified below in section 3.6.5.

3.6.4 Removal from the Waiver for Failure to Maintain Medicaid Eligibility

Medicaid recipients are responsible for maintaining Medicaid eligibility and may be assisted by family, friends, service providers or case managers. The most common causes of loss of Medicaid eligibility are failure to complete an annual Medicaid re-determination form, or possessing assets that exceed the Medicaid limit.

The Medicaid Operations unit can be notified of loss of Medicaid eligibility by the region, DAS, DSS, or through a records review by staff in the unit. If the individual is no longer eligible for Medicaid and has not been eligible for more than 60 days the person will be removed from the waiver immediately. If the person has not been eligible for Medicaid for less than 60 days and it appears that Medicaid can be re-instated within 30 days the individual will not be removed from the waiver until a final determination of Medicaid eligibility has been made.

Individuals who have been discharged from the waiver can re-apply once their Medicaid eligibility has been restored.

3.6.5 Medicaid Operations Unit Removal Process

When a DSS form W-1576 is processed by the Medicaid Operations unit copies of the completed form are sent to DSS, DAS, the individual's case manager, and the region's PRAT manager. A letter notifying the individual that he/she is being removed from the waiver is sent by the Medicaid Operations unit with copies to:

- ☐ The primary responsible person listed in the DDS client database (eCAMRIS)
- ☐ The Case Manager for inclusion is the individual's master file

This letter will include the individual's right to appeal to DSS for an Administrative Hearing and a form to request the appeal within 60 days of the decision by the DDS Medicaid Operations unit. The individual's waiver services at the time of the DDS decision will be unchanged until:

- a) 60 days has passed with no request for a hearing, When no appeal is requested within 60 days the DDS Medicaid Operations unit will advise the individual and the region to implement the Central Office determination. The Medicaid Operations unit will properly annotate computer records and CAMRIS.
 -or-
- b) the DSS Hearing decision has been issued and the individual has been advised of the outcome and the impact on their current situation. The Medicaid Waiver Operations unit and the DDS Region will take whatever action is indicated in the hearing officer's decision.

3.7 Regional Audit

Each region will conduct an internal audit at least annually. The audit addresses areas such as consistency in prioritization and resource allocation as well as the removal of individuals no longer interested in obtaining services and supports from DDS from the list.

4. Individual Planning

The individual planning process results in the development of a comprehensive Individual Plan, which is the document to guide all supports and services provided to the individual. Individual planning, a form of person-centered planning, is a way to discover the kind of life a person desires, map out a plan for how it may be achieved, and ensure access to needed supports and services. Individual planning is an approach to planning driven by a respect for the individual, a belief in the capacities and gifts of all people, and the conviction that everyone deserves the right to create their own future.

Individual planning supports people to achieve the outcomes of the mission of the Department of Developmental Services, which states that all people should have opportunities to experience:

- Presence and participation in Connecticut town life.
- Opportunities to develop and exercise competence.
- Opportunities to make choices in the pursuit of a personal future.
- Good relationships with family members and friends.
- Respect and dignity

The individual planning process promotes and encourages the person and those people who know and care for him or her to take the lead in directing this process and in planning, choosing, and evaluating supports and services. Individual planning puts the person at the "center" of the plan. Individual planning offers people the opportunities to lead self-determined lifestyles and exercise greater control in their lives.

With individual planning, the person is viewed holistically to develop a plan of supports and services that is meaningful to him or her. Services and supports are identified to meet the person's unique desires and needs, regardless of funding source and may include state plan services, generic resources, and natural support networks.

Individuals meeting the eligibility requirements for a DDS HCBS waiver must initiate a HCBS waiver application at the time of the new resource allocation or requested service notice. To access waiver services, a current Individual Plan, and accompanying Individual Budget, if applicable, must be developed or updated to identify specific needs, preferences and individual outcomes that will be addressed by waiver services. The DDS Individual Plan serves as the Medicaid Plan of Care that supports and prescribes the need for the specific type(s), frequency, amount and/or duration of waiver services. Without a complete plan as described below, Medicaid waiver services cannot be authorized.

4.1 Individual Planning Process

Following are the major steps of the Individual Planning process:

4.1.1 Identify Participants in the Person-Centered Planning Process The individual and his or her family members should be comfortable with the people who help to develop the Individual Plan and should consider inviting a balance of people who can contribute to planning, including friends, family, support providers, professional staff. The individual should be supported to include people in the planning and support team who:

- Care about the individual and see him or her in a positive light.
- Recognize the individual's strengths and take the time to listen to him or her
- Can make a commitment of time and energy to help the individual to develop, carry out, review and update the plan.

At the very minimum, all planning and support teams shall include the individual who is receiving supports, his or her guardian if applicable, his or her case manager, and persons whom the individual requests to be involved in the individual planning process. Planning and support teams for individuals who receive residential, employment, or day support should include support staff chosen by the individual and who know the person best. Depending upon the individual's specific needs, health providers, allied health providers, and professionals who provide supports and services to the individual should be involved in the individual planning process and may be in attendance at the individual planning meeting. Individuals who are interested in self-directing their supports should be made aware of the opportunity to hire an independent support broker. If selected, the independent support broker would become a member of the person's planning and support team.

4.1.2 Scheduling the planning meeting

Every effort will be made to schedule the planning meeting at times and locations that will facilitate participation by the individual and his or her family, guardian, advocate or other legal representative as applicable. The case manager will ensure that the individual and/or the person's family are contacted to schedule a meeting at their convenience.

If the person, family, or guardian refuses to participate in the Individual Plan meeting, the case manager should document his or her attempt(s) to invite participation and the responses to those attempts in the individual record and in the Individual Plan, Section 5 - Summary of Representation, Participation, and Plan Monitoring. In these situations, the case manager should pursue other ways to involve the individual, family, or guardian in the planning process outside of the meeting.

4.1.3 Support the Individual to Prepare for the Planning Meeting

The case manager should develop strategies to assist the person and his or her family to be actively involved in the planning process. The case manager and other team members assemble as much information as possible before the meeting to assist the individual and his or her family to prepare for the meeting. This helps the meeting to be shorter, more focused on decision making, and more efficient. Before the meeting, the case manager or another team member may assist the individual and his or her family to begin to update the Information Profile and develop the Personal Profile and Future Vision. The case manager may provide a copy of "My Health and Safety Screening" to the individual or his or her family so they may identify health and safety concerns they want to be sure are addressed in the plan. The case manager should complete the Level of Need Assessment and Screening Tool (LON) with information from the individual, the family, providers and/or the master file prior to the planning meeting.

Providers of supports and services should share current assessments, reports and evaluations with the case manager at least 14 days prior to the scheduled meeting. The case manager should share the LON and LON Summary Report with team members prior to the planning meeting. It is helpful before the meeting to ensure that the person and his or her family has a chance to review the information in current Assessments, Reports, and Evaluations that will be discussed at the meeting. Supporting the individual to prepare for the meeting

offers an opportunity to express his or her desires or concerns to the case manager or another team member with whom he or she is comfortable and who can assist the individual to share these issues with the larger group.

There may be circumstances when the individual does not want to discuss something in a meeting. This preference should be respected when possible, however, personal information that affects supports or impacts the individual's health or safety should be addressed. In these circumstances, the topic should be acknowledged and dealt with respectfully and privately outside of the meeting with the person and with others who need to know this information to provide appropriate supports.

4.1.4 Level of Need Assessment and Screening Tool

The Level of Need Assessment and Screening Tool (LON)should be completed prior to the meeting. The LON should be updated annually or more often as needed to identify and document changes in the individual's needs or concerns or issues that may pose a health and safety risk to the individual. The case manager should ensure the LON Summary Report is reviewed at the Individual Plan meeting.

An optional format, My Health and Safety Screening is a screening tool designed to help individuals and their families identify risk issues of concern to them prior to the individual plan being developed. If available, this information should be incorporated in the individual plan developed by the planning and support team.

4.1.5 Gather a good understanding of the individual.

During the planning meeting, the individual and his or her planning and support team completes a profile or assessment of the person's current life situation and future vision. The team completes an analysis of the person's preferences, desired outcomes, and support needs. They also review the information profile, personal profile, future vision, current assessments, reports, and evaluations, including the health and safety screening, to identify what is important to include in the plan and identify any additional assessments needed. The sections of the plan completed or reviewed during this stage of plan development include the:

- Information Profile
- Personal Profile
- Future Vision
- Level of Need Assessment and Screening Tool Review
- LON Summary Report Review
- Assessment Review
- Assessments, Screenings, Evaluations, and Reports form.

4.1.5.1 Information Profile—IP.1

The Information Profile, IP.1, is a form to update and document basic demographic information about the individual. After the meeting, any updated information should be entered into the department's automated data system, CAMRIS.

4.1.5.2 Personal Profile—IP.2

The Personal Profile, IP.2, describes information that members of the planning and support team and other support providers need to know in order to assist the individual to achieve what is important to him or her and to stay healthy and safe. The Personal Profile includes information about the individual's significant life history; accomplishments and strengths; relationships; home life; work, day, retirement, or school situation; leisure and community life; health and wellness; and finances. The Level of Need Assessment and Screening Tool and all other relevant assessments are completed prior to the meeting and the information is available during the planning process.

4.1.5.3 Future Vision—IP.3

Within the Future Vision section of the Individual Plan, IP.3, the individual and his or her planning and support team describe his or her hopes and dreams for one to three years into the future and for the coming year.

4.1.5.4 Assessments, Screenings, Evaluations, and Reports—IP.4

The Assessments, Screenings, Evaluations, and Reports section of the Individual Plan, IP.4, lists the current assessments, screenings, evaluations, and reports that are available or needed by the individual. Any assessments or reviews identified as needed must be referenced in IP.5— the Action Plan and should be done within three months. However, any issue or concern that poses an immediate risk must be addressed immediately. Once the assessments and reviews are completed, all recommended supports or procedures identified must also be referenced in the action plan. The action plan may reference documents such as specific service plans, health care plans, guidelines, procedures, or protocols that describe the detailed supports to be provided. The planning and support team is responsible to ensure that recommended supports and procedures are in place, required staff training is completed and documented, and ongoing supervision provided.

4.1.6 Develop an action plan to achieve desired outcomes.

The action plan should include desired outcomes, needs or issues addressed, actions and steps, responsible person(s), and by when and should consider the individual's choices and preferences. The section of the plan completed during this stage of plan development includes the:

Action Plan—IP.5

The Issues or Needs Addressed section of the Action Plan, IP.5, describes the current status of the area(s) the person wants to improve or change, or why it is important to work towards the desired outcome. The Desired Outcome section describes the outcome the person hopes to accomplish as a result of the actions and supports and services to be provided. The Action and Steps section should be specific and should indicate all actions to be taken to address the need or should reference a teaching strategy, specific service plan, guideline, procedure, protocol, health care plan, behavior plan, or other document that contains the step by step actions to take. The Individual Plan should address each identified risk area that was identified by the LON. If new action is required then the Action Plan must include services or supports that are needed to address an identified risk.

4.1.7 Summarize the plan of supports and services.

Once the individual and team have completed the action plan, they identify the type of services and supports that will address the Action Plan. Specific agencies and/or individuals who will provide service or support are further identified. The need for a waiver service that addresses specific outcomes included in the Action Plan must be clearly identified and supported by the Individual Plan. The case manager ensures that the individual and his or her family or guardian have sufficient information available to make informed selections of support providers, and information to make informed decisions regarding the degree to which the individual and his or her family or guardian may wish to self-direct services and supports. The section of the plan completed during this stage of plan development includes the:

Summary of Supports and Services—IP.6

The Summary of Supports and Services, IP.6, identifies the individual's support providers. The information documented in the plan should include the agency or individual who will provide support, the type of service or support, and the amount of service or support. Included in this information is the type and frequency of contact the case manager will have with the person. For individuals with individual budgets this section of the plan is completed in the automated IP.6 database.

4.1.8 Identify how progress on the individual's plan will be monitored.

During the planning meeting, the individual and planning and support team discuss plans to monitor progress and to evaluate whether the supports are helping the person to reach desired outcomes. At a minimum, the case manager initiates a contact quarterly to evaluate the implementation or satisfaction with the plan. An Individual Plan is reviewed and updated at least annually and may be reviewed sooner if the individual experiences a life change, identifies a need to change supports, or requests a review. The section of the plan completed during this stage of plan development includes the:

Summary of Monitoring and Evaluation of the Plan—IP.9

The Summary of Representation, Participation & Plan Monitoring, IP.9 summarizes four areas: the person's understanding and capacity to make important decisions/choices, accept assistance from others, and possible need for guardian/advocate/legal or personal representative; the team's efforts to involve the person in planning, the person's actual participation in the planning process, and planned efforts to enhance the person's future participation in planning; the team's efforts to involve the person's family/guardian/advocate/legal or personal representative in the planning process; and the team's plans to ensure that the Individual Plan will be implemented and that progress is made toward achieving desired outcomes.

4.1.9 Staff Qualifications

Each waiver service specifies the experience, background and training requirements for the agency and/or individual providing the support. Services delivered in licensed settings and in facility day programs are governed by regulation and contract requirements. In addition, the planning and support team should designate specific training, experience or background for the provider

staff based on the specific needs of the individual. Specific training and/or experience and the timeframe for completion of any training is recorded on the:

Provider Qualifications and Training Form—IP.7

The Provider Qualifications and Training Form – IP.7 is to be used for individuals enrolled in a DDS HCBS waiver who require specially qualified or trained support staff. Each waiver service identifies standard qualifications that employee(s) who provide the service must meet. During the planning meeting, the Planning and Support team may identify additional or specific qualifications (expertise, competence, and or training) that staff should possess to effectively support the individual to achieve personal outcomes and maintain a healthy and safe lifestyle. The additional qualifications or training requirements should be documented on this form.

4.1.10 Emergency Back up

If the individual is receiving waiver services in their own or family home or other settings where staff might not be continuously available, the individual plan must include a backup plan to address contingencies such as emergencies, including the failure of an employee to appear when scheduled to provide necessary services. The section of the plan completed during this stage of plan development includes the:

Emergency Back Up Support Plan—IP.8

The Emergency Back Up Support Plan – IP.8 is to be completed for individuals on the waivers who live in their own or family homes and who receive personal care and/or supervision supports that must be available as described in the Individual Plan or it would lead to an immediate risk to the individual's health and/or safety. The form documents specific protocols to follow in the event that these needed supports are not available.

4.1.11 HCBS Re-Determination

On an annual basis, during the Individual Planning process, the case manager and the planning and support team complete an HCBS Level of Care Redetermination for continued waiver eligibility. The section of the plan completed during this stage of plan development is the:

HCBS Re-Determination form—IP.10

At the time of the Individual Planning meeting the planning and support team should also complete the IP.10 HCBS Re-determination form to indicate whether there is a reasonable indication that the person, but for the provision of waiver services would need services in an ICF/IDD.

4.1.12 Aquatic Activity Screening

The Planning and Support Team completes the Aquatic Activity Screening form, as an addendum to the plan, annually at the time of the Individual Plan meeting. The purpose of the Aquatic Activity Screening form is to have accurate information about an individual's abilities and safety needs around water activities. The section of the plan completed during this stage of plan development is the:

IP Addendum: Aquatic Activity Screening

The purpose of the Aquatic Activity Screening form is to have accurate information about an individual's abilities and safety needs around water activities.

4.1.13 Agreement with the Individual Plan.

Once the plan is completed and the individual and planning and support team agrees with the plan, the case manager should ensure the plan is documented on the appropriate forms. Those who participated in the planning process are listed on the Signature Sheet and those who attended the meeting check that they were present at the team meeting.

Individual Plan Signature Sheet—IP.11

The case manager obtains the signatures of those who participated in planning on the Individual Plan Signature Sheet, IP.11. The plan should be distributed to the individual, parent, guardian or advocate and other team members within 30 days of the plan meeting. The individual, parent, guardian or advocate, should contact the case manager within two weeks of receipt of the written plan if they do not agree with the plan as written.

4.1.14 Put the plan into action.

Every effort should be made to arrange for needed supports and to implement the plan as soon as possible after the final approval is obtained as outlined in Sections 4.7 through 4.10. Supports and services are expected to be implemented within 60 days of plan approval, or within 30 days in licensed settings, and should be provided as described in the Individual Plan.

4.2 Monitor and revise the Individual Plan as needed.

The team shall review all areas of the individual plan when there are any changes in the individual's life situation and at least annually, or more frequently as required by state or federal regulations.

4.2.1 Monitoring Plan Implementation

The case manager has responsibility to ensure approved waiver services are delivered according to the Individual Plan, and to routinely review and monitor all aspects of service delivery. Case managers should engage in activities to evaluate whether supports and services are meeting the desired outcomes for the individual and should work with the individual and his or her family or legal representative to make adaptations to plans and service arrangements as needed.

The case manager should monitor progress on plan goals on an ongoing basis through contacts, site visits, review of individual progress reviews, review of provider documentation, and Quality Service Reviews (QSRs). Through ongoing monitoring and review the case manager is able to:

 Determine that needed supports and services in the Individual Plan have been provided

- Review implementation of strategies, guidelines, and action plans to ensure specific needs, preferences and desired outcomes are being addressed.
- Review the individual's progress and accomplishments
- Review the individual's satisfaction with supports and with service providers
- Identify any changes in the individual's needs, preferences and desired outcomes
- Identify the need to change the amount or type of supports and services
- Identify the need to revise and update the individual's plan of services.

On an ongoing basis, individual service providers should review and document progress on the specific personal outcomes and actions for which they are responsible. Providers of residential and day services are required to submit a written six month Individual Progress Review to the case manager and other team members prior to the annual plan and six months thereafter.

When a case manager identifies or is notified that an individual may be in need of additional support, is at risk, or may be entering a crisis, the case manager shall take steps to notify appropriate parties, convene the planning and support team to make needed support changes, make referrals to the region's Planning and Resource Allocation Team (PRAT), implement appropriate practices or procedures, or manage the crisis as appropriate to respond to the situation. If the issue is related to the individual's program or plan the case manager should bring the issue to the planning and support team and may schedule a meeting to update the plan.

Team members should inform case managers at any time an individual's life circumstances or needs change resulting in a need to convene the planning and support team to change the plan of services. The case manager may convene a team meeting at any time to update the plan. The team shall be convened when:

- The individual, family or guardian requests a meeting, for example to plan a different outcome, new service, or different provider.
- The person's needs change resulting in an increase or decrease in services.
- One or more new service is added or discontinued.
- There is a change in a service provider.

4.2.2 Periodic Review of the Plan - IP.12

The periodic review form, Periodic Review of the Plan, IP.12, should be used to document reviews of the plan for individuals who live in Community Training Homes and may be used in other settings where more frequent reviews of the plan are required by state or federal regulations.

4.2.3 Changes to the Individual Plan

The Individual Planning process is an ongoing process that changes as the needs and circumstances of the individual change. The individual or his or her legal representative may request a meeting to revise the Individual Plan at any time. Individuals who have Individual Budgets should have a revised budget completed if there are changes to the existing budget.

4.2.4 Service and/or Provider Changes to the Plan

If changes are made to types of or providers of supports and services, a revised Summary of Supports and Services IP.6, or an Individual Budget in the automated IP.6 database, should be completed. If the changes do not result in an increase in the approved Individual Budget, submit a copy of the Summary

and Individual Budget to the Resource Administrator or designee who will issue new service authorizations to the Vendor and FI as needed. See Section 4.10 for more about service authorization.

If a change in services will exceed the dollar limit in the approved Individual Budget, the case manager must submit a Request for Services to the PRAT detailing the type and amount of services requested and the reasons for the requested services. The PRAT is responsible to approve increased service requests based on identified needs and any Utilization Review criteria if applicable.

4.3 Individual Plan 6 Database (IP 6 Database)

The IP 6 Database is an electronic database that is used by the case manager to develop the IP.6, Summary of Supports and Services, the individual budget replaces the waiver form 223 for eligible clients who have been allocated funds from PRAT or who have DDS resources in a Master Contract and wish to move their resources from the contract to individualize their services or to change vendors. The IP 6 database is used for eligible clients to develop an array of services that is consistent with the person's individual plan.

4.4 Waiver Service Limits

Waiver	Age requirement	Population	Assessment Tool	Funding CAP
Comprehensive	3 years old with	Developmental	LON	150% of ICF/IID
Waiver	Intellectual Disability	Disability and		rate
	Diagnosis	Intellectual		
	18 years old for	Disability		
	Developmental			
	Disability			
Individual and	3 years old if	Developmental	LON	\$59,000
Family Support	Intellectual Disability	Disability and		
Waiver	18 years old for	Intellectual		
	Developmental	Disability		
	Disability			
Employment and	3 years old if	Developmental	LON	\$28,000
Day Supports	Intellectual Disability	Disability and		
Waiver	18 years old for	Intellectual		
	Developmental	Disability		
	Disability			
Home and	3 years old and above	Autism	LON	\$60,000
Community		Spectrum		
Supports Waiver		Disorder		
for Persons with				
Autism	2 14 11		***	Φ20.000
Early Childhood	3 and 4 year old	Autism	Vineland Adaptive	\$30,000
Autism Waiver		Spectrum	Behavior Scales	
		Disorder w/	and the Scales of	
		significant	Independent	
		deficits in	Behavior-Revised	
		adaptive	Maladaptive	
		behaviors and	Behaviors Scale.	
		severe		
		maladaptive		
		behaviors		

4.4.1 Funding Limits by Level of Need

The total amount of services within each package that is available to each individual is based first on the individual's assessed level of need. Then, each service package is further limited to a specific range of funding based on the results of an individual's Level of Need Assessment. This funding range is used to build the Individual Budget that meets the needs of the individual as determined by the plan of care. For example, an individual is assessed as having Moderate Support needs and is provided an Individual Budget limit of \$65,000 for combined Residential and Day/Vocational services based on the Level of Need assessment findings. The individual and his/her planning and support team then initiate the person-centered planning process and build an Individual Budget up to the \$65,000 limit to carry out the Individual Plan. Funding levels may exceed \$65,000 at any time during a plan year if Home and Vehicle Modifications services authorizations occur as one-time service costs. Requests to exceed \$65,000 of annualized supports and services, in this example, are addressed through Utilization Review detailed in Section 4.9.4.

Changes to these budget limits will be made based on analysis of actual utilization relative to Level of Need, and on COLA increases, for each year of the waiver. Adjustments to the service limits can occur at any time during the term of the waiver.

4.5 Plan and Individual Budget Approval

When the Individual Plan is completed, the case manager, individual, family, and planning and support team address the services and support needs identified in the plan as outlined below:

- The type and amount of waiver services to be purchased based on the identified needs and desired outcomes in the Individual Plan is entered into the IP 6 database.
- Individuals and families choose providers from the qualified provider list at DDS established rates.
- After providers have been chosen, the IP 6 is completed in the IP 6 database using the support type, the qualified provider, the units (per day or per week), and the duration (days per year or weeks per year). If the total cost of DDS funded waiver services is within the original assigned PRAT resource allocation range, the case manager changes the status of the IP 6 in the IP 6 database to pending. The case managers supervisor is notified.
- Individual Budgets exceeding the original resource allocation range are submitted back to PRAT with the Individual Plan and waiver application packet for further utilization management review as described in Section 4.6 of this manual.
- Following CM supervisor or designee approval verifying the IP 6 approval guidelines have been met, the and the waiver application packet submitted, and the budget is within the PRAT assigned allocation the supervisor changes the status of the IP 6 in the database to A1 and notifies the Resource Manager 2.
- The Resource Manager assigns a fiscal intermediary to manage the authorized budget funds and provider payments that are managed through a Fiscal Intermediary contracts.
- The regional Resource Administration office prepares a contract or contract amendment for the selected provider if needed for services provided through

- a Qualified Provider Master Contract.
- The regional Fiscal office enters the budget into the spend plan.
- The resource administrator or designee changes the status of the IP 6 in the IP 6 database to A (authorized) after verification that the IP 6 guidelines have been met. This includes verification that the current and annual costs are within the PRAT authorized allocation. The Resource Manager authorizes the release of funds to the fiscal intermediary or to the contract.
- The approved IP 6 is accessed by the FI, the case manager, PRAT, and the DDS waiver unit electronically. A copy is sent to the consumer. PRAT processes the waiver application packet.
- The regional Fiscal office issues the payments to the Fiscal intermediary quarterly prospectively according to IS Procedure PR 012. (Fiscal Intermediary Contracting Management).
- The FI sends periodic expenditure reports to the individual and family to review with a copy to the case manager.

Implementation for Adjustments up to \$5000

- Adjustments are allowed once a quarter.
- The planning and support team can make service changes up to \$5000 for the year within existing line items. This can be done as one adjustment of \$5000 or two or three smaller ones that are up to or less than \$5000. Case Manager/Broker revises the Individual Budget in the IP 6 and forwards to the Fiscal Intermediary and the resource administrator. The change must be to add or to increase a <u>waiver service</u> in the authorized budget and cannot be a new waiver service or a change from a waiver service to a state funded service. The resource administrator will issue a revised vendor authorization when appropriate.

Implementation for Adjustments over \$5000.

- Adjustments are allowed once a quarter
- The case manager makes service changes in the IP 6 and other parts of the IP as required, Waiver form 223 or the automated IP.6. The case manager supervisor authorizes the adjustment. (electronically or signs off until the electronic system is operational). A copy of the adjustment is sent to the Fiscal Intermediary and the Resource Administration Unit. The Waiver form 223 is sent to the Medicaid Operations Unit or the Medicaid Operations Unit is notified that a new automated IP.6 is in the database.
- The resource administration unit issues a new or revised provider authorization when applicable.

4.6 Utilization Review

Individual Plans and budgets exceeding the overall original resource allocations or Individual Budget limits based on the Level of Need Assessment proceed through utilization review. Individual Plans and budgets are reviewed to evaluate the amount, type, frequency, and intensity of services directly related to health and safety needs of the individual, and desired outcomes based on the individual's preferences and needs. Utilization review consists of regional and state level review processes outlined below:

 Requests for resource allocations exceeding original range or Individual Budget limit by the Regional PRAT are made to the PRAT. PRAT has up to 10 business days to issue a decision on the request.

- b) The Regional Director is required to review and approve PRAT decisions that exceed PRAT approval limits and will do so within 5 business days.
- c) The State UR Committee is required to review and approve Regional Director decisions that exceed the Regional approval limits and will do so within 25 business days.
- Regional Directors may provide immediate temporary approval for requests to address immediate threats to the individual's health and/or safety.

Each waiver has specific established limits and Utilization Review criteria.

IFS Waiver

Regional Utilization Review may approve service packages up to \$30,000 in Day and Vocational Services and up to \$30,000 in Home and Community Services, when considered separately. State Utilization Review is required beyond those amounts. Such approvals are made based on the existence of health and safety needs that could not be addressed within the original Level of Need allocation for that individual. The total annualized cost of the individual's services and supports may not exceed the current IFS Waiver covered services limit.

Comprehensive Supports Waiver

Regional Utilization Review is required for any service package that exceeds the initial allocation range or Individual Budget limit as determined through the Level of Need assessment outcome. Regional Utilization may approve up to the established limits found in Section 4.4.3 for each Level of Need in total. Such approvals are made based on the existence of health and safety needs that could not be addressed within the original Level of Need allocation for that individual.

State Utilization Review is required for any service package that exceeds the identified total limits for each Level of Need range. Specific criteria for approval of such requests are:

- Funding, or allowable, service costs which exceed those amounts may be permitted if necessary to access 24-hour supervised "group living" arrangements; and/or,
- To access specialized day/vocational supports due to specific and identified behavioral, medical, and physical support needs; and/or,
- For specialized service costs for individuals who may present threats of harm to others, as assessed on an individual basis; and/or,
- When needed to assure the health and welfare of a self-directed participant, the funding limit may be exceeded if needed to approve additional Independent Support Broker services.

Individuals who are seeking enrollment in a DDS HCBS waiver whose service package exceeds the prescribed allocation range or Individual Budget limits may not initiate services until the application has been accepted and approved through either Utilization Review, the negotiation process, or through the results of a DSS Fair Hearing Appeal Process.

Requests for additional services later in a plan year that exceed the previously approved Individual Plan and Budget are submitted to the Regional PRAT following a review of an individual's plan, and are subject to the same approval and/or Utilization Review process and criteria as described in this sub-section.

4.7 IFS Waiver- Exceeding the IFS Waiver Limits

Individuals participating in this (IFS) waiver will not lose their eligibility for the waiver due an increase in the need for covered service that causes the total need for the relevant service(s) to exceed the maximum permitted amounts established by the state, unless the state has evaluated the individual and determined that the individual's health and welfare cannot be assured by any one or any combination of the following:

- Adding more available natural supports; and/or,
- Accessing available non-waiver services, other than natural supports; and/or.
- Accessing funds held in CT DDS Regional risk funds on a non-annualized basis

To the extent that the above efforts are unsuccessful, and the state finds that the absence of sufficient service(s) prevents the state from being able to assure the individual's health and welfare, the following shall apply:

- Individuals will be given the opportunity to apply for an alternative CT DDS HCBS waiver for which the individual is eligible that may more adequately respond to the service needs of the individual, to the extent that such waiver openings exist.
- Individuals in emergency situations are permitted to access services on a priority basis before other individuals on the waiting list.
- Individuals will be afforded an opportunity for placement in an ICF/IDD including a state operated Regional Center.
- Individuals will be informed and given the opportunity to request a fair hearing if the state proposes to terminate the individual's waiver eligibility consistent with the requirements under 42 CFR 431.210, .211, .221 and .430 subpart D. Waiver services will be continued during the pendency of a timely requested hearing including the provision of any emergency services available within the DDS Regional Risk Pool, even if the services exceed the total benefit package limitation in this waiver.

4.8 Denial of Services and/or Enrollment and Notice of Appeal

Any PRAT or Utilization review resulting in a recommendation to deny an initial Individual Plan and Budget, or an additional service request in whole or part is submitted to the Central Office Waiver Policy Unit. The Waiver Policy Unit will review the request and issue a final decision. If the initial Individual Plan and Budget, or additional service request, is approved following a Central Office Case review, the reasons for the approval are documented in a Waiver Services Review summary and returned to the Regional office for processing and service authorization. If denied, the Waiver Policy Unit will issue a denial with notice of appeal rights to the individual, responsible person and case manager. For any determinations of the CO Waiver Policy Unit that constitute a denial of or reduction in a waiver service, the CO Waiver Policy Unit will provide information and forms to initiate an administrative hearing through the Department of Social Services. The Appeal process is further outlined in Section 10 of this Manual.

4.9 Service Authorization Procedure

Upon final approval of the IP 6 in the IP 6 database, the resource administrator/designee authorizes release of DDS funds for the approved services in the IP 6 to the fiscal

intermediary and sends a service authorization form to the provider (Provider Service Authorization), or processes the DDS Master Contract amendment.

4.9.1 Provider Service Authorization Form – Instructions

- The Service Authorization Form is generated from the IP 6 database for all approved qualified provider services.
- The Service Authorization Form includes the individual's name, the authorized services including rate, units, duration and annualized costs, the fiscal intermediary, the case manager, and the approval date.
- The provider provides services as authorized in the Service Authorization Form and documents the date of service, type of service, and the number of units and/or costs;
- The provider submits the monthly Billing Invoice Form for each person served, with the dates, number of units and/or costs, provider billing information, and consumer information;
- The fiscal intermediary makes payment up to the amounts authorized in the authorized IP 6 to the provider.

4.10 Consumer-Directed Options

Individuals and families can choose the level of control and flexibility they want to exercise over their supports. The options for self-direction include:

- Choosing qualified providers and negotiating rates below the established DDS rates;
- Agency with Choice, the provider provides the individual and family an opportunity to participate in selecting and dismissing staff;
- Hiring individuals, with the individual or family as the employer of record,
- A combination of provider services and hiring individuals.

The case manager/support broker will provide information and assistance to ensure that the individual and his/her planning and support team successfully arrange the initiation of approved services in the desired approach. The case manager/support broker will provide individuals who are interested in self-directing their supports with the opportunity to hire an independent support broker. If selected, the independent support broker will become a member of the person's planning and support team.

Individuals who choose to manage his/her supports through the direct hiring of support staff can utilize up to \$1200 per year of his/her annual resource allocation to purchase non-waiver supports. Requests for non-waiver services/supports in excess of this amount may only be made through the one-time funding procedures managed by the PRAT.

Individuals who create consumer-directed plans and budgets including the direct hiring of staff are subject to The *Department of Developmental Services Individual Support Cost Standards 7/1/2008* For individuals who self-direct services and supports through an Agreement for Self Directed Supports, the Medicaid Agency (DSS) has designated the Fiscal Intermediary to obtain and hold individual Medicaid Provider Agreements for their employees. Individuals who only select the Agency with Choice Option use the IP 6 database process.

4.10.1 Agreement for Self Directed Supports

The case manager/support broker will review the requirements for self-direction and the **Agreement for Self Directed Supports** with the individual and family. The requirements for self-direction are: the sponsoring person reviews the **Agreement for Self Directed Supports** and identifies any support that is needed to self direct services. These supports if needed are included in the IP. The sponsoring person demonstrates the ability to manage supports and signs

the **Agreement for Self Directed Supports.**, and selects an approved fiscal intermediary or has one assigned. The sponsoring person may need assistance with managing their supports as identified in the Individual Plan. Individuals who seek additional assistance may request a DDS broker who will provide both Targeted Case Management and the additional support functions to effectively self-direct services. The waiver service, Independent Support Broker, can also be used to assist the sponsoring person with the management of supports. The sponsoring person can be the individual receiving services, a family member, or a member of the planning and support team, with the exception of the case manager/support broker.

4.10.2 Instructions IP 6 Database

- The Individual IP 6 database was designed to allow automated budgeting for individual services and support. This version provides detail for Day and Residential Services. It will allow the use of 620 for residential, 617 for day, and one other account for both day and residential.
- The services and providers are selected from drop downs that are managed by the Operations Center. The application alerts the user when they have exceeded the PRAT authorization. The user enters the services on an annual basis and the application pro rates the costs based on the start and end dates of the IP 6. A user manual is available with step by step instructions and each region has identified technical assistants to support case managers.

4.10.3 Individual Plan and Budget Approval Process

- The case manager/support broker assist the individual, family, and planning and support team to complete the person centered planning process and the Individual Plan;
- Supports are crafted with a combination of natural supports, community supports, and DDS supports;
- The case manager/support broker build the IP 6 that captures the DDS supports within the DDS Individual Support Cost Standards and Cost Guidelines;
- If the total cost of DDS funded services is within the original assigned PRAT
 resource allocation range, the case manager changes the status of the IP 6
 in the IP 6 database to P (pending). The Individual Plan and waiver
 application packet are submitted to his/her case management supervisor;
- IP 6 costs exceeding the original resource allocation range are submitted back to PRAT with the Individual Plan and waiver application packet for further utilization review;
- Following case management supervisor approval verifying the IP 6
 guidelines and individual planning requirements are met the case
 management supervisor changes the status of the IP 6 in the IP 6 database
 to A1. The waiver application packet is submitted to the regional designee;
- The Resource Manager or designee reviews the IP 6 and verifies the IP 6 guidelines are met and the current and annual costs are within the PRAT authorization.

- The Resource Manager approves the IP 6 in the IP 6 database and changes the status to A (authorized) Funds are authorized for release to the fiscal intermediary when the IP 6 in the IP 6 database is approved.
- The Fiscal Intermediary, the Case Manager, the DDS business office, the DDS Waiver Unit access the IP 6 electronically. An approved copy of IP is included with the IP. The consumer and family get a copy of the IP.
- The regional fiscal office enters the budget into the spend plan;
- Funds are paid to the Fiscal Intermediary quarterly, in advance;
- The Fiscal Intermediary sends periodic expenditure reports to the individual and family to review with a copy to the case manager. The individual and family have flexibility to make changes in their budget according the <u>DDS IS</u> <u>Fiscal Management Procedure No. I.C.2.PR.008.</u>

4.10.4 Service Authorization

The individual or sponsoring person for self directed services completes agreements with employees and with providers when a rate is negotiated. (Individual/ Family Agreement with Provider and Individual /Family Agreement with Employee) These agreements reflect the type and amount support, any special conditions, and the effective date.

4.10.5 Individual /Family Provider Agreement Form Instructions

Individuals who self-direct their services and choose qualified providers at negotiated rates are required to complete an Individual/ Family Provider Agreement. The agreement includes the type of Waiver support, the hours per week and schedule of support, agency with choice arrangements, the negotiated rate when below the DDS established rate, the billing method, terms for discontinuation, and the effective date. A provider agreement is required prior to authorization of an IP 6 in the IP 6 database when the rate is negotiated.

4.10.6 Individual/ Family Employee Agreement Instructions

Individuals who hire their own staff are required to have an agreement with each employee. The agreement (Individual/ Family Employee Agreement) includes the type of Waiver support, the hours per week and the schedule of hours, the hourly rate of pay (within DDS Cost Guidelines), employee information, a commitment to complete training requirements, and work rules as determined by the individual or family.

5 Case Manager Responsibilities

The role of the DDS case manager in individual planning is to support the person and other team members to develop and implement a plan that addresses the individual's needs. Case managers support individuals to be actively involved in the planning process. They are responsible to ensure that individual planning meetings are scheduled at times when the person, his or her family and other team members can attend. Prior to the meeting, the case manager should ensure that any individuals who express interest in self-directing supports are made aware of the opportunity to hire an independent support broker to assist with planning. The case manager is responsible to facilitate the annual individual planning meeting unless the individual requests another team member facilitate the meeting. The case manager ensures the meeting is facilitated in line with the individual planning process and encompasses input across services settings.

At the time of the individual's planning meeting, the case manager is responsible for ensuring the individual, and his or her family, guardian, advocate or other legal representative, if applicable, is informed of the rights extended to them by DDS, including the right to appeal any decision that is made at the meeting through the Programmatic Administrative Review (PAR) process. The case manager should inform individuals on the waiting list of their priority status, and should inform waiver participants and their families about Medicaid Fair Hearing rights. The case manager should make other notifications and share additional information with the individual and family or guardian as required.

The case manager should ensure the individual has been offered a choice of supports, service options, and providers and that the plan represents the individual's preferences. The case manager ensures the plan is documented on the Individual Plan forms, though other team members or clerical staff may do the actual transcription of the plan. He or she ensures the plan is distributed to all team members, though this task may also be assumed by another team member or clerical staff.

The case manager is responsible to ensure a HCBS waiver application is completed during the initial planning process and been included in the Individual Plan and Budget package submitted for authorization. The case manager monitors implementation of the plan and ensures supports and services match the individual's needs and preferences. He or she ensures the plan is periodically reviewed and updated based on individual circumstances and regulatory requirements.

The case manager has overall responsibility for ensuring that Waiver services are coordinated with other services, resources, and supports available to the person, including state plan, generic, and informal services and supports. The case manager also has responsibility to ensure approved waiver services are delivered according to the Individual Plan, and to routinely review and monitor all aspects of service delivery.

The individual and his or her planning and support team, including his or her family or legal representative and support providers, also have roles in assuring that services are delivered as described in the plan to meet the person's needs. The individual and the planning and support team members should inform the case manager of any changes in the person's situation or needs and provide access to locations and information that will enable the case manager to monitor supports and services.

Case managers specifically carry out the following requirements under a DDS HCBS waiver.

5.1 Choice of Service Options

The case manager is responsible to ensure that the individual and his or her family or legal representative have sufficient information about support and service options to make informed choices during the planning process. Individuals may self-direct their supports and services, may select to have services delivered by qualified providers, or may use a combination of both options. To the extent that they choose, individuals will be supported to self-direct and manage the supports and services identified in their individual plans.

5.2 Arranging Services and Free Choice of Providers

Case managers should assist individuals to obtain supports and services identified in their individual plans to the extent that individuals request their assistance. This may include assisting the individual to gain access to supports and services from qualified providers or from other sources including state plan, generic, and informal supports and services.

For those individuals who self-direct a plan of supports that includes the hiring of staff, the individual and his or her family or legal representative may request the additional support offered by a DDS Broker, or choose to obtain assistance from an Independent Support Broker. In these cases, the broker will assume responsibility to fully arrange and coordinate consumer-directed services and supports. In these cases, the individual will continue to also receive DDS Targeted Case Management services.

Individuals will be offered choices of qualified providers and will be fully informed of their right to freely select among qualified providers. Case managers will ensure that individuals have sufficient information about qualified providers to make informed choices. Case managers will refer the individuals who request supports and services from an agency to the list of qualified providers that provide supports within the region. The list is located on the DDS website. Case managers may accompany individuals to interviews, tours, and initial visits. Case managers may also assist individuals and their families or legal representatives to evaluate several different options and providers to ensure the best selection.

Supports and services should be implemented within 60 days of plan approval, 30 days within licensed settings, and should be provided as described in the Individual Plan. If supports and services cannot be promptly implemented, the case manager, individual and planning and support team should consider the need to revise the Individual Plan to meet the person's needs.

5.3 Coordination

Case managers will assist individuals to coordinate the services identified in the individual plan and will promote cooperative communication among support providers.

5.4 Monitoring

Case managers shall engage in activities to evaluate whether supports and services are being delivered as described in the Individual Plan and are adequate to meet the desired outcomes for the individual and address his or her needs. Case managers shall work with the individual and his or her family, guardian or legal representative to make adaptations to plans and service arrangements as needed. Monitoring of supports and services will include visits to service locations and gathering input from the individual, family or support providers including review of individual progress reviews. Case managers will document ongoing monitoring in the case manager case notes and/or Quality Service Review system.

When a case manager identifies or is notified that an individual may be in need of additional support, is at risk, or may be entering a crisis, the case manager shall take steps to notify

appropriate parties, convene the planning and support team to make needed support changes, make referrals to the region's Planning and Resource Allocation Team (PRAT), implement appropriate practices or procedures, or manage the crisis as appropriate to respond to the situation.

5.5 Maintaining Medicaid Eligibility

The individual and his or her family or legal representative will maintain Medicaid eligibility and submit required documents to the Medicaid agency. The case manager is responsible for verifying a person's continuing eligibility for Medicaid. During the planning meeting, the case manager will review documents to ensure the individual and his or her family or legal representative have submitted required information and may ask to view the person's Medicaid card. On an annual basis, the case manager coordinates the completion of a Level of Care re-determination for continued waiver eligibility.



6. Provider Options

6.1 Qualified Provider Requirements

Private agencies/organizations seeking enrollment as a qualified provider to deliver services and supports in this waiver will meet the following requirements through demonstration of knowledge, policy and practice, and agreement to assurances as part of the DDS provider enrollment process. Each agency upon approval by DDS must enter into a Provider Agreement with the Medicaid Agency (DSS). DDS will hold the Provider Agreements and will make payments on behalf of the Medicaid agency (DSS).

- Meets all applicable federal and state regulations;
- Meets and keeps current all state licensing/certification;
- Understands and follows all applicable DDS policies and procedures
- Is able to communicate clearly and effectively with individuals and their families;
- Protects the confidentiality of the individual and family's information;
- Operates a drug-free workplace;
- Maintains documentation of services provided as described in Section 2 of this manual for a period of six years;
- Bills only for services that are actually provided;
- Submits billing documents after service is provided and within 90 days;
- Accepts payment from DDS as payment in full
- Retains financial and statistical records for six years from date of service provision;
- Allows state and federal offices responsible for program administration and audit to review service records and have access to program sites;
- Assures it will carry sufficient general liability insurance;
- Agrees to comply with State of Connecticut Ethics Protocols;
- When transporting a consumer as part of the service: the vehicle in which the transportation is provided must have valid license plates and at a minimum the State of CT required level of liability insurance; vehicles must be maintained in safe working order; consumers with special mobility needs shall be provided transportation in a vehicle adapted to those needs as required to facilitate adequate access to services; and, if the vehicle is used to transport consumers in wheelchairs, it should be equipped with floor mounted seat belts and wheel chair lock downs for each wheel chair it transports;
- Demonstrate in its policies and procedures that criminal background, abuse and neglect (Registry), Sexual Offender Registry, driver's license checks, and any future preemployment requirements are completed and updated as required for all direct service employees prior to employment;
- Will not discriminate against any employee, applicant for employment or participant because of race, age, color, religion, sex, handicap, national origin or sexual orientation;
- Demonstrate that it can train Direct Service staff in required areas;
- Demonstrate competence and knowledge of DDS policies and procedures in: abuse/neglect; incident reporting; human rights; confidentiality; handling fire and other emergencies, prevention of sexual abuse; knowledge of approved and prohibited physical management techniques; all required DDS policies and procedures as they apply to the services;
- Demonstrate that it can make information about staff qualifications and training records and Direct Service staff's time and attendance records available to DDS;
- Demonstrate that Direct Service staff receive supervision;
- Demonstrate the capacity to:
 - Assume responsibility
 - Respond to emergency situations and follow emergency procedures
 - Assure that in the delivery of services, specific service related activities as well as staffing are:

- Available and provided at any time as specified in the individual's Individual Plan
- Delivered in a manner that takes into consideration the primary language of the consumer and their representatives as well as cultural diversity issues;
- Demonstrate that it can provide back up staff when the lack of immediate care poses a threat to the individual's health and welfare;
- Demonstrate that it will participate in individual's person-centered planning if requested by the individual;
- Demonstrate that it can obtain adequate information necessary to meet the needs of the individual:
- Demonstrate that it can observe and report all changes, which affect the individual and take action if necessary;
- Assure it will sign a provider agreement with the individual and family;
- Assure it will not require a participant to sign an agreement that they will not change agencies as a condition of providing services;
- Assure it will not subcontract ongoing direct services unless approved by the DDS
 Operations Center. The subcontracting of nursing supports (where nursing supports are
 allowed under the waiver), clinical supports, and occasional, time limited, direct staff
 supports are allowable provided that the vendor maintains primary responsibility for the
 oversight of all supports and services. The provider assures the subcontractors meet all
 DDS required qualifications and training for the service(s) provided.
- · Demonstrates a commitment to Quality Improvement;
- Demonstrates financial stability.

6.2 Self-Directed Options

Individuals and families are offered options on how much control and flexibility they choose to have over their supports. They may choose a provider agency to deliver the service, choose an Agency with Choice option, hire their own staff through the use of an approved Fiscal Intermediary to provide a number of services in this waiver, choose an agency at the DDS established rate, or choose a combination of provider delivered and self-directed service options. This process is described in section 4.10. The case manager will provide information about Qualified Providers, information and assistance as requested to ensure that the individual and his/her circle successfully select and arrange the initiation of approved services in his/her desired approach.

6.3 Agency with Choice

Agencies with Choice are those agencies that provide individuals and families the ability to choose and dismiss staff. This allows families a role in self-directing their services without the responsibilities of becoming an employer. The staffs are employed by the agency, but the individual and family participate in choosing staff. Individuals and families who select an agency with choice option are required to fill out an Individual/Family Provider Agreement, which identifies the role of the individual and family in choosing and dismissing staff.

7. Provider Qualifications and Training

Each Waiver Service identifies the standard qualifications that the employee(s) must meet prior to employment and prior to being alone with the individual for whom the service is being provided. The Provider Qualifications are listed for each service in Section 2 of this manual.

It is also necessary for the planning and support team to identify the **additional or specific qualifications** (expertise, competence, and or training) required to effectively support the individual to **achieve the personal outcomes** identified in his or her plan and to maintain a **healthy and safe lifestyle.**

Based on the preferences and support needs of the individual, the following information is documented for each employee who may require additional or specific qualifications in the Individual Plan form IP.7 Provider Qualifications and Training:

- The additional or specific qualifications (expertise, competence, and or training) required to effectively support the individual to achieve personal outcomes and maintain a healthy and safe lifestyle
- The timeframe in which the specific qualification(s) must be met.

Employers (provider agencies or individuals/families) are responsible to ensure that employees meet the standard and specific qualifications identified. Employers must provide the necessary training and support for employees to acquire identified competencies and verify that all qualifications are met within required timeframes.

7.1 Provider Standard Qualifications and Training

QUALIFICATION/ TRAINING AREA	KNOWLEDGE, COMPETENCIES, OR EXPERTISE REQUIRED (Prior to being alone/within 30 days)	AVAILABLE TRAINING RESOURCES
ABUSE AND NEGLECT (INCLUDING	 ✓ Understand the definitions of abuse (including sexual abuse) and neglect 	Abuse and Neglect Policy and Procedures
SEXUAL ABUSE)	 ✓ Know the signs of possible abuse and neglect ✓ Understand conditions that may lead to abuse and neglect ✓ Understand strategies for preventing abuse and neglect ✓ Know how to respond if abuse or neglect is suspected or reported 	Abuse and Neglect Direct Hire Training Material

HUMAN RIGHTS	✓	Understand that people with disabilities are entitled to the same rights afforded to all citizens	Human Rights Policy and Procedures
	✓	Understand their responsibility to assist the person they support to understand and exercise their rights	Abuse and Neglect Direct Hire Training Material
	✓	Understands guardianship role and responsibilities	
	✓	Understand and can use processes designed to safeguard rights, i.e., human rights committees	
CONFIDENTIALITY	✓	Understand that any individual identifiable health information is kept private	HIPAA Policy and Procedure
	✓	Understand that confidential information cannot be disclosed without written, informed consent	HIPAA Fact Sheet Confidentiality Direct Hire Training Material
HANDLING FIRE	✓	Understand basic principles of fire	DDS Fire Safety
AND OTHER EMERGENCIES		prevention and personal safety	Guidelines
	✓	Know the appropriate actions to take in response to fire emergencies	Websites or pamphlets on fire safety or emergency management
		Know the appropriate actions to take in response to other emergencies, such as severe weather, hazardous materials, missing person and others	Handling Fire and Other Emergencies Direct Hire Training Material
PHYSICAL MANAGEMENT	V	Understand the limitations placed on the use of involuntary physical restraint by Connecticut state law and	Policy and Procedure Physical Management
		DDS regulations, policies and procedures	Physical Management Direct Hire Training Material
	✓	Understand what constitutes life-	
		threatening physical restraint, and that its use is prohibited under any circumstances	
	✓	Understand that physical management techniques may only be applied by individuals who are certified through DDS approved training programs	

INCIDENT REPORTING	✓	Know incidents and accidents to be reported	Incident Policy and Procedures
	✓	Understand required timelines for incident and accident reporting	Family Fact Sheets
	✓	Understand employer protocol for reporting incidents and accidents	
MEDICATION ADMINISTRATION	√	Completion of DDS certified Medication Administration training if required by DDS regulations and the individual's specific support needs.	DDS
INDIVIDUAL PLANNING AND PERSON-	✓	Understands the DDS Individual Planning Process	Individual Planning Policy and Procedure
CENTERED SERVICES	✓	Understand the importance of language that demonstrates respect, shared control, and use of "person first language"	PPT Presentation on Individual Person- centered Planning Direct Hire Training Material
	✓	Understand the basic philosophy of person centered planning	
	✓	Understand the methods for gathering information about the person	
	*	Understand support staff roles and responsibilities in developing and implementing a plan with the person, his or her family, and circle or team	
	×	Understand that the plan changes as the person's life circumstances change	
PARTICIPATION IN A PLANNING AND SUPPORT TEAM		Understand the importance of listening, and takes direction from the person, identifying and building upon	Individual Planning Policy and Procedure
OR CIRCLE OF SUPPORT		strengths and talents, and working as an effective, collaborative member of the person's circle or team.	PPT Presentation on Individual Planning
			Person-centered Planning Direct Hire Training Material

7.2 Documentation of Qualifications and Training

Provider agencies must have a system to verify employee qualifications, screenings and training required by the waivers. Department staff will conduct periodic audits of provider records.

Individuals or families hiring employees will use the Provider Qualifications and Training Verification Record to document that each employee meets the standard and additional provider qualifications, screenings and training requirements. Upon verifying that all qualifications, screenings and training have been met, the verification form will be sent to the Fiscal Intermediary. The Fiscal Intermediary will assist the individual or families with obtaining needed screenings and may provide assistance with arranging staff training. The FI is not authorized to make any payments for services until the individual provider has met the initial entry qualifications and screening requirements. Department staff will conduct periodic audits of employee records on file with the Fiscal Intermediary.



8. Service Documentation and Records

Qualified Provider staff and individual employees hired by people who self-direct must document services delivered and keep records according to Medicaid requirements as well as DDS Policies and Procedures. A Qualified Provider staff person or individual employee must document the provision of a service before seeking Medicaid payment.

The Medicaid requirements for specific services are outlined in this section. Qualified Providers and individuals and/or their legal representatives who self-direct services must also keep related personnel, financial and other management records as required by the Medicaid Provider Participation Agreement, the policies and procedures in this manual, Medicaid rules, and state and federal law.

8.1 How Long Records Must Be Kept

The records must be maintained for six years from the date of service. For individuals who self-direct services and hire their own staff those records will be maintained by the Fiscal Intermediary.

8.2 Availability of Records

The Qualified Provider or the individual who self-directs services and/or his or her legal representative must furnish information regarding Medicaid payments received upon request by DDS and its agents, the Office of the Attorney General, the Department of Social Services, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, and any other entities specified in the Medicaid Provider Participation Agreement. In addition, the DDS Case Manager, DDS Staff, DSS, and/or CMS must be permitted to review the documentation that supports a claim for Waiver services rendered and billed. Requested documents must be mailed or delivered to designated sites during state and/or federal reviews.

8.3 What the Qualified Provider or the Individual who self-directs services keeps

- Copy of the Individual Service Plan, including current outcomes;
- Service documentation;
- Provider Service Authorization, or approved ISA Budget: and
- Provider copies of claims submitted to Fiscal Intermediary or individual/family as well as related correspondence.

In addition, the information needed in all records includes:

- The person 's name and DDS Number;
- What service was provided;
- · Procedure code of the service type
- The date that the service was provided;
- Duration of service, if applicable;
- Where the service was provided;
- Signature of the person providing the service; and
- The requirements listed in Section 2

8.4 Service Documentation

Documentation requirements differ according to the service type. Note that DDS only considers that a service has been provided if there is documentation of the provision of the service. The minimum service documentation requirements for Waiver services are described in Section 2 of this manual.

9. Invoices, Billing, Payments

The Provider can bill monthly or bi-monthly for service provided during the billing period. Providers will submit invoices to the Fiscal Intermediary designated on the Provider Authorization Form authorized by the Regional Resource Administrator or their designee.

Invoices are required to include the following data:

- Consumer Name, DDS #,
- Qualified Provider name and Address
- Federal Taxpayer ID number
- Medicaid Provider Number
- Service month
- Procedure Code
- Date of service, unit type (hours, miles, trips, days), number of units for each date of service.
- Unit rate
- Total for reimbursement for each date of service
- · Total for all services on the invoice
- Signature of provider representative submitting the invoice. Electronic invoices or stamped invoices are acceptable when the provider designee signs an authorization letter provided by the Fiscal Intermediary identifying the authenticity of the PIN or stamped signature.

Direct service time is the period of time spent with the consumer and verified by the consumer or their family when required.

When billing, the Qualified Provider should use the procedure code for the specific service that is authorized on the consumer's we combined these into one form. *Provider Authorization form.* Each waiver service has a specific procedure code.

When billing, the Qualified Providers should submit the number of units (hours, days, miles) for each service provided. Each service has a specific unit of service that is the minimum amount of direct service time that can be billed. Direct service time is the period of time spent face to face with the consumer. Qualified Providers should round their direct service time to the nearest unit increment.

For example, when billing for <u>Personal Supports</u> the basis for payment is a quarter-hour unit; therefore, the Qualified Provider should round its direct service time to the nearest 15-minute increment.

- -If services were provided for 67 minutes, bill for 1 hour.
- -If services were provided for **68** minutes, bill for **1.25** hours.
- -If services were provided for **50** minutes, bill for **.75** hours.

Absences do not constitute a billable unit. The DDS will not compensate a Qualified Provider for absences. Providers who submit a bill for more than the number of hours authorized in the Provider authorization form may experience delays in payments. If a consumer stops attending the Qualified Provider's program, they shall notify their Regional Contract Manager and the consumer's F.I.

Services authorized for payment through a Master Contract require that monthly attendance records be submitted to the Central Office Medicaid Operations Unit. Payments are made per the Master Contract agreement in place.

9.1 Instruction for completing Provider Billing Invoice Form

Consumer Name: Individual's name as it appears on the Provider Service Authorization

DDS Number: Consumer's Department of Developmental Services Identification number

Provider Name/ Address: Provider name and address as listed on the Qualified Provider application

Provider EIN#: Federal Tax Identification Number

T-XIX Provider #: Department of Social Services Medicaid Provider Number when applicable

F.I.: Fiscal Intermediary used by that consumer

Billing Month: Month that the services were provided for example- October,2008

Date: Date that the service was provided, for example 12 (twelfth day of month)

Service/Commodity Type: The authorized service listed on the individual's **Provider Service Authorization**

Procedure Code: Code that corresponds to the authorized service listed on the individual's **Provider Service Authorization** (see **Individual and Family Waiver Service: Codes-Units- Rates** table and **Comprehensive Supports Waiver Service: Codes-Units** table)

Service Units: Unit of service that corresponds with that service code (see : **Codes-Units-Rates** tables)

Units: The number of units provided for that particular date for that service. Units (hours, days, miles) should be entered in whole numbers or whole numbers with decimals. For example 6 and a half hours of DSO support would be recorded as **6.5** in the unit column.

Unit Rate: The fee set by the DDS for one unit of the corresponding service.

Total: The # of units times the Unit Rate (# Unit X Unit Rate)

Subtotal: Total of Column Total

Grand Total: The total of all Subtotals for that Individual for that month if more than one service is included in the invoice or an additional Billing Invoice Form is used

Qualified Provider Certification

Signature: Signature of the staff of the Qualified Provider authorized to certify the accuracy and authenticity of the billing

Printed Name: Print or type name of individual's signature

Date: Date of signature

Telephone: Telephone number of the individual who signed the Request for Payment

9.2 Medicaid Billing

DDS serves as the billing provider for the DDS HCBS Waiver. Medicaid billing received at DDS Central Office Medicaid Operations is reviewed and processed through the Department of Administrative Services Financial Services Center. The fiscal intermediaries will prepare the Fiscal Intermediary Waiver Service Documentation Form on a monthly basis for all waiver services received by the individuals they serve. The completed forms will be sent to DDS Central Office Medicaid Operations Unit. The fiscal intermediary will only report services that are:

- a. Provided according to the individual's plan of care.
- b. Provided by qualified providers who are enrolled with DDS and have a Medicaid performing provider number. Or,
- c. Provided through an approved consumer-directed Agreement to Self Direct, Individual Plan and budget, and
- d. The provider has signed a Medicaid Provider Agreement. The Fiscal Intermediary has been deemed by the Medicaid Agency (DSS) as the entity authorized to obtain and hold those Provider Agreements.

Master Contract authorized services submit monthly attendance records to the DDS Central Office Medicaid Operations Unit..

9.3 Documentation for Medicaid Billing

Services provided under a DDS HCBS Waiver are billed to Medicaid and any provider accepting payment for those services must complete a <u>Medicaid Provider Agreement</u>, which requires them to:

- a. Accept payment, in form of check(s), from the fiscal intermediary.
- b. Agree to keep records of the service(s) or purchase(s).
- c. Provide only the service(s) or item(s) authorized.
- d. Accept the check(s) as payment in full for the service(s) or item(s) purchased.
- e. No additional charges will be made or accepted from clients.
- f. Upon request, provide DSS or its designee information regarding the service(s) or purchase(s) for which payment was made.

9.3.1 Performing Provider Agreement

All Qualified Providers of waiver services will complete an application for a Medicaid performing provider number from DSS prior to receiving any payment for services. In these cases, the enrollment procedure is:

- a. Providers apply to the DDS Operation Center to become qualified providers for Waiver Services. A Provider Agreement must be completed by all providers who are not on a Purchase of Service Contract to receive payment for services. Providers with a Purchase of Service contract complete a Provider agreement through the Medicaid Operations Unit in order to obtain a number. The Operations Center will inform the Medicaid Operations Unit when they have approved a provider to provide waiver services. Information will include the services the provider is authorized to provide.
- DDS Medicaid Operations Unit will complete specific information pertaining to providers on a Purchase of Service Contract on the Waiver Performing Provider Registration Form.
- c. A Provider Registration packet will be sent to the provider along with instructions and guidelines for completion.

- d. The provider will complete the packet and send it back to the DDS Medicaid Operations Unit within 10 working days.
- e. The DDS Medicaid Operations Unit forwards the Registration Form to the DSS Provider Relations Unit requesting Medicaid Performing Provider Number along with the procedure codes relating to the services the provider is authorized to provide.
- f. DSS sends DDS Medicaid Operations Unit Performing Provider Number.
- g. DDS Medicaid Operations Unit tracks progress of Provider Enrollment from date sent to Provider through date EDS loads approved rates and procedure codes.

9.3.2 Qualified Provider Documentation

The provider will maintain the following:

- a. A record of the type of service, date of service, units of service and the name of the person performing the service.
- b. A record of the training and qualifications of anyone providing services.
- c. A record of any licenses or certifications of persons providing services
- d. Documentation that services are provided in accordance with an Individual Plan approved by the DDS Region.
- e. Records will be maintained for a minimum of six years.

9.3.3 Self-Directed Employee Documentation

Where services are provided by a person hired directly by the waiver recipient, the Fiscal Intermediary will maintain the following documentation: Medicaid Provider Agreement signed by the employee, copy of the criminal history background check, copy of the registry check, a copy of the provider qualification verification record, copy of licenses or certifications, the employment application form, the Individual/Family Employee Agreement, all federal and state employment related forms, payroll records and time sheets, quarterly expenditure reports, Medicaid monthly billing reports, and documentation of goals/tasks/activities performed by the employee.

10. Appeals

Individuals have a right to request an evidentiary hearing from the Department of Social Services (The State Medicaid Agency) if they are aggrieved by a decision concerning their participation in the Home and Community-Based Services Waiver. This may be as a result of denied enrollment in a waiver or a denial of or reduction in waiver services.

10.1 Enrollment Denial

Once an individual has formally applied for enrollment in a DDS HCBS Waiver, the application is processed through the region's PRAT team and sent with a recommendation to the Central Office Waiver Operations Unit. The Waiver Operations Unit will review the PRAT recommendation and available documentation and render a decision within 10 business days of receipt of the PRAT recommendation. An applicant who is denied enrollment in a waiver will receive written notification of the reason for the denial including notice of the right to request a Fair Hearing convened by the Department of Social Services (DSS). Forms and directions for initiating the DSS hearing process will be included with any Notice of Denial. DSS, as the single state Medicaid agency, makes the final administrative Medicaid Waiver eligibility decision. Typical reasons why a person may be denied enrollment are:

- a. The individual's income or assets exceed the waiver limit.
- b. The person does not meet the ICF/IDD level of care requirement.
- c. The individual does not have and/or does not qualify for Medicaid.
- d. The person's service needs exceed the covered waiver service limits.
- e. The individual does not need waiver services covered by the waiver.
- f. There is no available waiver opening.
- g. The individual plan budget exceeds approved limits, has been denied by Utilization Review to exceed limits, and subsequently denied enrollment by the CO Waiver Unit.
- h. The individual has not met the priority requirements to access waiver services.

10.2 Service Denial

Individuals may also request an Administrative Hearing if a request for increased services provided in the waiver is denied. This is usually the result of a determination that current services are adequate to meet the individual's needs. If the individual applicant and the DDS Region are not in agreement with the Individual Plan and/or Individual Budget and PRAT recommends that the enrollment or additional services be denied the PRAT, and subsequent Utilization Review body, if applicable, must submit a DDS Form 225, <u>PRAT HCBS Waiver Recommendation Form</u> stating the specific nature of the dispute, the recommended decision and the justification for the decision, along with all records and forms considered in the decision to the DDS Central Office Waiver Policy Unit.

The Central Office Waiver Policy Unit will issue a final decision to the applicant and/or his/her family or legal representative, with a copy to the Case Manager within 10 business days of submission of the complete file. A waiver recipient who is denied new or additional waiver services will receive written notification of the reason for the denial including notice of the right to request a Fair Hearing convened by the Department of Social Services (DSS). Forms and directions for initiating the DSS hearing process will be included with any Notice of Denial. DSS, as the single state Medicaid agency, makes the final administrative Medicaid Waiver eligibility decision.

10.3 Request for Hearing

The individual will have 60 days from the date of the notice to request a hearing. The DSS Office of Legal Counsel, Regulations and Administrative Hearings will schedule and conduct

the hearing. The DDS Region will be expected to provide any necessary documentation and testimony for the hearing.

11. Quality Management

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) requires that each waiver contain a Quality Management Strategy to ensure compliance with the following Federal Assurances and sub-assurances that includes:

- Process to trend and analyze discovery and remediation information.
- Process to prioritize and implement system design changes.
- Process to monitor and analyze the results of system design changes.

Level of Care

- An evaluation for LOC is provided to all applicants for whom there is reasonable indication that services may be needed in the future.
- The levels of care of enrolled participants are reevaluated at least annually or as specified in the approved waiver.
- The processes and instruments described in the approved waiver are applied appropriately and according to the approved description to determine participant level of care.

Service Plans

- Service plans address all participants' assessed needs (including health and safety risk factors) and personal goals, either by the provider of waiver services or through other means.
- The state monitors service plan development in accordance with its policies and procedures.
- Service plans are updated/revised at least annually or when warranted by changes in the waiver participant's needs.
- Services are delivered in accordance with the service plan, including the type, scope, amount, duration and frequency specified in the service plan.
- Participants are afforded choice: Between waiver services and institutional care; and between/among waiver services and providers.

Qualified Providers

- The state verifies that providers, initially and continually meet required licensure and/or certification standards and adhere to other standards prior to their furnishing waiver services.
- The state monitors non-licensed/non-certified providers to assure adherence to waiver requirements.
- The state implements its policies and procedures for verifying that provider training is conducted in accordance with state requirements and the approved waiver.

Health and Welfare

The state, on an ongoing basis, identifies, addresses and seeks to prevent the occurrence of abuse, neglect and exploitation.

Administrative Authority

The Medicaid Agency retains ultimate administrative authority and responsibility for the operation of the waiver program by exercising oversight of the performance of waiver functions by other state and local/regional non-state agencies (if appropriate) and contracted entities.

Financial Accountability

 State financial oversight exists to assure that claims are coded and paid for in accordance with the reimbursement methodology specified in the approved waiver.

The department's approach to quality management is designed to assure that individual participants achieve meaningful personal outcomes, have the supports necessary to make choices, informed decisions, experience community opportunities and individual relationships, benefit from system safeguards, and experience satisfaction with their services, supports and desired lifestyle. The DDS Quality Management Strategy uses the automated Quality Service Review (QSR) data application to provide discovery data related to Service Plans, Level of Care Health and Welfare, and Qualified Providers.

11.1 Quality Service Reviews

The Quality Service Review (QSR) is the process by which the Department conducts formal reviews of Qualified Providers and the systems processes associated with supporting individuals who hire their own staff. Quality indicators are measured utilizing varied review methods including: Consumer Interview (incorporates elements of the National Core Indicators Consumer Interview and additional items for the purpose of the QSR); Support Staff Interview; Observation; Document Review; and, Safety Review.

The content of the QSR is built around seven focus areas: Planning and Personal Achievement; Relationships and Community Connections; Choice and Control; Rights, Respect and Dignity; Safety; Health and Wellness; and, Satisfaction. Within these seven focus areas, Individual Personal Outcomes and Support Expectation indicators are assessed. The review process measures both the individuals' experiences with the services and supports and the Provider and System effectiveness in supporting the individual to achieve positive personal outcomes.

11.2 Trending, prioritizing, and implementing system improvements

DDS has structured its Quality Improvement System (QIS) to systemically address all requirements of the Federal Assurances listed above thorough its organizational structures and the standing committees related to the HCBS Waivers. Regional offices assume responsibility for implementation of access to services, planning and delivery (Level of Care and Service Planning) and for substantial elements of the quality system through provision of Targeted Case Management(TCM), quality review activities, system safeguards and the maintenance of administrative functions. DDS Central Office maintains responsibility for the Division of Investigations, oversight of TCM, provider qualification, licensure and certification activities, and for systemic oversight, evaluation and analysis of data related to provider performance, system safeguards, fiscal accountability, administrative authority and quality improvement.

QSR data is aggregated and analyzed by the Department quarterly. This data, along with the routine collection of incident data, abuse and neglect data, mortality review, behavioral program review and medication management review activities, is monitored to identify particular trends or issues that may require interim quality improvement activities.

A DDS Management Information Report (MIR) is prepared quarterly by the DDS Waiver Policy Unit. It includes information on the following: DDS participant demographics; DDS referral and eligibility; service utilization; placement/access to services; waiting list data; waiver enrollment; incident data; abuse/neglect data; worker's compensation data; federal revenue; referrals to the Abuse/Neglect Registry; and psychiatric hospitalization utilization.

Annual business plans are developed by DDS Central Office divisions in conjunction with regional staff. Goals and objectives are prepared each year to support department goals generated internally or through external direction. Quality improvement information is considered in goal development and QI projects are included and integrated into these plans. Quarterly progress reports are prepared and shared with all divisions, and will be available for review by Executive staff and Quality Committees.

Individual provider licensing results reports are posted to the DDS website. Summary deficiencies and subsequent follow-up are prepared quarterly for administrative monitoring and oversight. Statewide aggregate licensing results are prepared annually to identify trends for quality improvement.

The Department's Quest for Excellence report is prepared annually by DDS Central Office. This report includes summary information on provider performance; critical incidents and abuse/neglect allegations; mortality review; behavior medication use; and audit and revenue. The report is posted to the web, provided to the State Medicaid Agency (DSS), Legislature, Governor, all Quality Committees and Councils and is available on request to any stakeholder.

The department prepares a mortality review report in which mortality data and analysis is compiled on an annual basis to report causes of death, trends regarding mortality of individuals supported by DDS, and recommendations for systemic DDS and health care system improvement. In addition to DDS's internal mortality review process, the DDS responds to recommendations from the state's Independent Fatality Review Board annual report about system improvements needed based on their findings of mortality reviews of selected individuals served by the DDS.

The department initiates, for special circumstances, a Root Cause Analysis (RCA) for the purpose of eliminating or reducing risk of future unusual incidents that could result in untimely death or serious injury. The RCA process produces programmatic and system improvement strategies that are incorporated into the department's QIS.

The findings from the above sources are evaluated against past department performance and against other states (in the case of NCI). The information is used in the development of quality improvement initiatives and assignment of their respective priority. Discovery data and the progress and success of remediation strategies from various reports will be aggregated and shared quarterly, semi-annually, annually or as needed with a variety of department functional units as well as standing DDS committees and interest groups associated with the department. The need for improvement strategies is identified through the analysis of qualitative and quantitative data and are developed, assigned to and implemented by the appropriate organizational entity at either the regional or central office level.

Key DDS committees (DSS/DDS Joint Committee, DDS System Design Team, DDS Quality Systems Improvement (QSI) Committee, DDS Regional Quality Councils, and the DDS Private Provider Council) are responsible for trending, prioritizing, and recommending improvement strategies and system changes prompted as a result of analysis of discovery and remediation information. These committees meet periodically throughout the year to review data, make recommendations and follow up on status of improvement projects.

11.3 Roles and responsibilities for monitoring and assessing system design changes

The DDS Central Office and Regional Quality Improvement Directors track and monitor overall system improvement strategies and related design changes resulting from continuous analysis of information generated by various DDS functional units. Identified improvement strategies are reviewed periodically by the key committees described below.

DSS/DDS Joint Committee

Membership: DSS and DDS Medicaid Operations and Waiver Policy and Planning Managers

The purpose of this joint committee is for DSS to assure that DDS meets federal quality requirements and expectations for the operation of its two HCBS Waivers. DSS monitors DDS's activities and performance according to the Memorandum of Understanding between

the two agencies and associated requirements found in the Administrative Authority assurance.

DDS System Design Team

Membership: DDS Central Office and Regional Executive Managers

The purpose of this committee is to monitor compliance with the six HCBS Waiver assurances and other federal, state, and agency requirements. Their responsibilities include a routine administrative review of key organizational and programmatic issues and data trends associated with the department's quality management system in order to determine and/or recommend changes in agency policy, program, infrastructure, and funding levels. The System Design Team ensures that all changes in program and practice are appropriately reflected in the agency policy, procedure, and operations manuals and communicated to stakeholders. This group works in conjunction with regional and central office Executive Management Teams to make final decisions on improvement and implementation strategies and new systems design development to advance the HCBS Waivers. They are informed by the following department functional units: Medicaid Operations, Waiver Policy and Planning, Quality Improvement, Quality Management, Provider Operations, Provider Administration and Resource Management, Legal Services and Fiscal Audit.

DDS Quality Systems Improvement (QSI) Committee

Membership: DDS Central Office and Regional staff representatives from Medicaid Operations, Provider Operations, Quality Management, Quality Improvement, Information Technology, and Waiver Policy and Planning.

The purpose of this committee is to develop and/or enhance systems to collect, analyze, and report on data critical to the department's continuous quality improvement effort. This includes responsibility for developing and enhancing data collection tools/processes, overseeing the design and maintenance of data applications, compiling and interpreting quality review findings, analyzing data trends and patterns, developing and prioritizing state and regional systems improvement recommendations for administrative review, and tracking state and regional level system improvement efforts. The QSI Committee or its subcommittees work collaboratively with the Regional Quality Improvement Divisions and Quality Councils on system improvement efforts and provides regular status reports to the Systems Design Team.

Regional Quality Councils

Membership: Individuals and families receiving DDS services and supports and DDS regional management team members

The purpose of the three regional Quality Councils (usually a subcommittee of the Regional Advisory Council) is to provide opportunity for consumer and family input and to review key quality findings and data trends in order to make recommendations for regional and state level systems improvement that will have a positive impact on individuals and families receiving DDS supports and services. With the support of the Regional Quality Improvement divisions, the Regional Quality Council recommendations are shared with regional management teams, and the DDS QSI Committee and Systems Design Team.

11.4 Periodic evaluation of the quality improvement strategy

The department's waiver related committee structures as well as its operational units address compliance with the six waiver assurances. This allows for ongoing opportunities to modify the department's QIS. Development and deployment of new information technology applications and management reports support new levels of data collection, management, aggregation and analysis, helping the department keep pace with positive system changes resulting from successful implementation of various improvement strategies. Additionally,

DDS seeks formal input and feedback from DSS about its ability to meet the HCBS Waiver requirements and assurances and how effective its QIS is in this effort. DDS works with DSS to incorporate any recommended processes that will improve the state's overall QIS.

